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Directors’ report

Directors
The directors present therr Annual Report and audited Financial Statements for Aviva International
Insurance Limited ("the Company") for the year ended 31 December 2010

The current directors, and those in office during the year, are as follows

M S Hodges

A J Moss

P G Scott (resigned 26 January 2010)

P C Regan (appointed 22 March 2010)

T W Harns (apponted 21 September 2010)
R L Spencer (appointed 25 November 2010)
D F M Cété (appointed 10 December 2010)
I M Mayer (appointed 25 February 2011)

Company secretary
K A Cooper

Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP

1 More London Place
London

SE1 2AF

Registered office
St Helen's

1 Undershaft
London EC3P 3DQ

Company number
Registered in England & Wales no 21487

Other information
The Company 1s a member of the Association of Bnitish Insurers and the Ftnancial Ombudsman Service and
Is authonised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority

The Company 1s a member of the Aviva plc group of companies ('the Group")

Principal activities

The Company transacts most ¢classes of general insurance business and s the main reinsurer of UK general
insurance nsks ceded from UK subsidiary companies The Company also invests In securities, properties
and loans

Business review

This business review is addressed to, and written for, the members of the Company with the am of
providing a fair review of the business development, performance dunng the period and position at the
current time [n providing this review, the aim Is to present a view that 15 both balanced and comprehensive
and 1s consistent with the stze and complexity of the business

Financial position and performance

The financial position of the Company at 31 December 2010 1s shown n the statement of financial position
on page 18, with the trading results shown In the income statement on page 16 and the statement of cash
flows on page 19

During 2010, Aviva plc's UK Life business and its UK General Insurance businesses have been brought
together as one UK region to bring scale benefits and underpin future growth The UK region 1s overseen by
a divisional Board which includes four non-executive directors

Legal entity governance 1s managed by the Company’s board of directors
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Directors’ report continued

Profit before tax decreased from £1,556 million m 2009 to £204 million This 1s mainly due to a reduction In
net investment income in 2010 and a one-off profit on disposal of subsidianes of £454m in 2009

The Company remains principally the reinsurer of UK nsks ceded from subsidiary companies Consequently,
a significant part of its performance 1s driven by the underlying perfarmance of those companies (‘UKGI") as
descnbed below

In personal motor UKGI has seen rating increases of 25% in 2010 building on its early action In previcus
years to respond to nsing bodily injury claims inflation

Commercial motor rates increased 7% in 2010 with higher increases dunng the second half of the year, as
clams trends in personal motor had a favourable knock on impact on commercial mator In homeowner,
rates increased 6% In commercial property and liability the Company has seen littte change n overall rating
reflecting continuing Intense compettion UKGI has protected profitability by selectively targetng rate
increases by segment and case, careful nsk selection resulting in reduced overall clams frequencies, and
continuing excellence in clams management

The freezing conditions in January and December 2010 resulted in a significant increase In weather ralated
claims in these manths However, this was offset to a lesser degree by benign weather dunng the rest of the
year, but still resulted In an overall adverse weather impact compared to the long-term average

Net wntten premiums in 2010 increased to £1,437 mithion from £1,480 million in 2009, an increase of 20 8%
This performance has been driven by a combination of factors excellent levels of retention across all lines of
business, substantial growth in our direct channel, and rolling out of direct prices to brokers

The net incurred claims ratio deteriorated to 77 8% (2009 66 9%) due largely to the increase in personal
motor bodily imury clams

The Company's net written expenses ratio improved to 14 3% (2008 16 2%), reflecting the benefits from
expense saving pregrammes and focus on cost control

Net investment income decreased in 2010 to £452 million {2009 £1,177 mihon) reflecting a reduction in
dividends received from subsidiary companies to £468 milion (2009 £1,055 muliion) and net investment
expense of £16 milion (2009 £122 militon income)

For 2010, fair value unrealised losses on investments in subsidiary companies and joint ventures reflected in
other comprehensive income are £166 million (2009 £280 milllon} These unreahsed losses have been
recognised in the revaluation reserve, resulting n a net surplus of £4,417 millkon (2009 £4,515 million) after
imparrment of £118 million (2009 £1 mihion)

Future Outlook

High level strategies are determined by Aviva plc and these are shown in the Group Report and Accounts
and 2010 Prelminary Announcement The directors consider that the Company's principal activites will
continue unchanged into the foreseeable future

For 2011, the Group general insurance businesses aim to deliver a 2011 general insurance Combined
Operating Ratio (‘COR'} of 97% or better The Company's strategy 15 1n ine with this aim

Principal nsks and uncertainties
A descnption of the principal nsks and uncertaintes facing the Company and the Company's risk
management policies are set out in note 30 to the financial statements

Risk factors beyond the Company’s control, that could cause actual results to differ matenaily from those
estimated include, but are not imited to
* Freguency and seventy of significant natural hazards,
» UK domestic and internatonal economic business conditions, including where the Company's
underlying subsidiaries and joint ventures transact business,
s  The impact of competition, inflation and deflation, and
¢ Change in discount rates
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Directors’ report continued

Key performance indicators
The directors consider that the Company's key performance indicators ("KPIs") that communicate the
financial performance are as follows

- Increase/(decrease) In net written premiums, and

- Combined operating ratio ("COR") - this comprises the sum of the following ratios
- net incurred claims to net earned premiums ratio,
- net wrnitten commissions to net written premiums rato, and
- net wntten expenses to net written premiums ratio

A summary of the KPIs 1s set out below

Measure 2010 2008
Increase/ (decrease) in net wnitten premiums 208% (47 3%)
Combined operating ratio 107 % 99%
Net incurred claims ratio 77 8% 66 9%
Net wntten comnussions ratio 14 5% 16 1%
Net wntten expenses ratio 14 3% 16 2%

The written expense ratio excludes corporate costs of £47 million (2009 £76 mufhion), and £17 mithon (2008
£1 miilion) relating to the companies’ restructunng costs

Diwvidend
The directors paid an intenm dividend of £500 million (2009 £ni#) dunng the year The directors do not
recommend a final dividend for the year (2008 £nif)

Going concern

The Company's business activiies, together with the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position including the Business Review, are set out in this report  In addition, the financial
statements include notes on the Company's contingent liabilities and other nisk factors (note 26), its capital
structure (note 29), management of its major nsks including market, credit and hquidity nsk (note 30), and
denvative financial instruments (note 31)

The Company and s ulimate hotding company Aviva plc have considerable financial resources together
with a diversified business model, with a spread of businesses and geographical reach As a conseguence,
the directors believe that the Company i1s well placed to manage its business rnisks successfully despite the
current uncertain economic outlook After making enquines, the directors have a reasonable expectation that
the Company and its subsidianies as a whole have adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparning the
financial statements

The directors, having assessed the responses of the directors of the Company’s parent, Aviva Group
Holdings Limited, have no reason to believe that a matenal uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt
about the abihty to continue with the current banking arrangements

Events since the statement of financial position date

The Aviva Group 1s currently undertaking a restructuring of its Asia Pacific regional entities which involves
the transfer of most of the shareholdings 1n these entities from the Company and its indirect subsidiary,
Aviva International Holdings Limited (*AlH"), to Aviva Asia Holdings Private Limited (‘AAHPL'), a wholly-
owned direct subsidiary of AlH, via its direct subsidiary, Aviva Insurance Limited {(“Al™)

On 1 January 2011, Aviva Asia Pte Limited was transferred from the Company to Al and subsequently to
AAHPL, in exchange for ordinary shares 1ssued by Al This transfer 1s not expected to have any significant
impact on the resuits or the financial position of the Company

Overseas branches
During the year the Company had branch offices outside the UK in Canada, Isle of Man (closed durning the
year), Jersey, Malta, United States of America and Hong Kong

Financial instruments

The business of the Company includes the use of financial Instruments Details of the Company's nsk
management cbjectives and policies and exposures to nisk relating to financial instruments are set out In
note 30 to the financial statements
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Directors’ report continued

Employees
The Group's UK staff are employed by a fellow subsidiary of Aviva plc, Aviva Employment Services Limited
Disclosure relating to employees can be found in the Annual Report and Accounts of Aviva ple

Disclosure of information to the Auditor

Each person who was a director of the Company on the date that this report was approved confirms that so
far as the director 1s aware, there 15 no relevant audit information, being information needed by the auditor in
connechon with prepanng ther report, of which the auditor 1s unaware Each director has taken all the steps
that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditor 1s aware of that information

Auditor
It 1s the intention of the directors to reappoint the auditor under the deemed appointment rules of Section
487 of the Companies Act 2006

Directors’ hiabifihes

Aviva ple, the ultimate parent, has granted an indemmty to the directors against habilty in respect of
proceedings brought by third parties, subject to the conditions set out in the Companies Act 1985 This
indemnity was granted in 2004 and the prowisions 1n the Company's Articles of Association constitute
“‘qualifying third party indemnities” for the purposes of sections 309A to 308C of the Companies Act 1985
These qualifying third party indemnity provisions remain in force as at the date of approving the Directors'
report by virtue of the transitional provisions to the Companies Act 2006

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are required to prepare financial statements for each accounting penod that comply with the
relevant provisions of the Companies Act 2008 and International Financial Reporting Standards {“IFRS"} as
adopted by the European Union, and which present farly the financial positton, financial performance and
cash flows of the Company at the end of the accounting perod A fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS requires the directars to

* select sutable accounting policies and venfy they are applied consistently in prepanng the financial
statements, on a going concern basis unless 1t 1s inapproprate to presume that the Company will
continue In business,

s present information, including accounting policies, 1N a manner that prowides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information,

s provide addtional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS s
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Company's financial position and financial performance, and

» state that the Company has compied with applicable IFRS, subject to any matenal departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements

The directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting records which are intended to disclose with
reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the Company at that ime They are also ultimately responsible
for the systems of internal control maintained, for safeguarding the assets of the Company, and for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

By order of the Board

K A Cooper
Company Secretary
30 March 2011

Registered Office St Helen's,
1 Undershaft, London EC3P 3DQ
Registered in England & Wales No 21487
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Independent auditor's report

To the members of Aviva International Insurance Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Aviva International Insurance Limited for the year ended 31
December 2010, which compnse the Accounting Policies, the Income Statement, the Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Financial Position, the
Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes 1 to 32 The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union

This report 1s made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 2 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006 Our audt work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to themn i an auditor's report and for no other purpose To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed

Respective responsibiities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities statement set out on page 5, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view Qur responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements tn accordance
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are
appropnate to the Company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed,
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation
of the financial statements

Opmion on financial statements
In our opinion, the financial statements

* give a true and farr view of the state of the Company's affarrs as at 31 December 2010 and of its
profit for the year then ended,

* have been properly prepared In accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescrnibed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared I1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report 1n respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report o you If, in our epinion

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been

received from branches not visited by us, or

s the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Erngr ?/‘{owxé u,P/

Michael Purrington (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP (Statutory Auditor)
London

30 March 2011
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Accounting policies

The Company I1s a imited habiity company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom (‘UK") lis
principal activity 1s the transaction of long-term and most classes of general insurance and health business
through its subsidianes, joint ventures and branches in the UK, Continental Europe, North America, Asia and
other countries throughout the world The Company also invests 1n securities, properties, mortgages and
loans and carnes on the business of trading tn property

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below
{A) Basis of presentation

The Company 1s exempt from prepanng group financial statements by wirtue of section 400 of the
Companies Act 2006, as 1t s a subsidiary of an EEA parent and 1s included in consolidated financial
statements for the Aviva Group at the same date These financial statements therefore present information
about the Company as an individual entity

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared n accordance with International Financial
Reperting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed
by the European Union, applicable at 31 December 2010 The date of transibion to IFRS was 1 January
2004

In 2008, the IASB issued revised versions of IFRS 3, Business Combinations, and IAS 27, Consoiidated and
Separate Fmancial Statements The former introduced a number of changes in accounting for such
transactions that impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period an acquisition
occurs, and future reported results The latter now requires a change in the ownership Interest of a
subsidiary (without loss of control) to be accounted for as an equity transaction, rather than giving nse to
goodwill or a gain or loss Consequential amendments were made to IAS 7, Staternent of Cash Flows, IAS
12, Income Taxes and |AS 31, Interests in Jont Ventures

Dunng 2008 and 2008, the JASB also 1ssued amendments to IFRS 1, First Time Adoption of IFRS, IAS 39,
Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement and the results of its annual improvements project
IFRIC interpretation 17, Distnbutions of Non-cash Assets fto Owners, 1ssued 1n 2008, has also been
endorsed by the EU

These are all applicable for the first tme in the current accounting penod and are naw reflected In the
Company's financial reporting, with no matenal impact

Further amendments to IFRS 1, IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, and 1AS 32, Financial Instruments —
Presentation, and the results of its next annual improvements project have been 1ssued and endorsed by the
EU, while other amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, Financial Instruments — Disclosures, and IAS 12 have been
tssued but have not yet been so endorsed These are applicable prospectively for accounting penods
commencing 1 February 2010 or later, and are therefore not applicable for the current accounting period On
adoption, they will not have any matenal impact on the Company's financial reporting

In 2009, the JASB i1ssued IFRS 9, Fmnancral Instruments — Classification and Measurement, followed by
addiional requirements on accounting for financial lhabilities 1in 2010 These are the first two parts of a
replacement standard for IAS 39 They are applicable prospectively for accounting periods commencing 1
January 2013 or later, and are therefore not applicable far the current accounting period IFRS 9 has not yet
been endorsed by the EU but, on adoption, wili require us to review the classification of certain financial
instruments while allowing us to retain far value measurement as we deem necessary We have not yet
completed our assessment of its iImpact

In accordance with IFRS 4, insurance Contracts, the Company has applied existing accounting practices for
insurance and participating investment contracts, modified as appropnate to comply with the IFRS
framework and apphcable standards Further details are given in policy E below

Items included m the financial statements of each of the Company's branches are measured in the currency
of the pnmary economic environment in which that entity operates (functional currency) The Company's
financial statements are stated in sterling, which 1s the Company’s functional and presentation currency
Unless otherwise noted, the amounts shown n these financial statements are in million of pound sterling
(Em)
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Accounting policies continued

(B) Critical accounting policies and the use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires the Company to select accounting policies and make
estimates and assumptions that affect items reported in the income statement, Statement of financial
position, other pnmary statements and notes to the financial statements

Critical accounting policles

The major areas of judgement on policy application are considered to be on product classification {set out n
policy E), in the classification of financial investments (set out in policy O) and insurance contract liabilities
(set out In policy 1)

Use of estimates

All estimates are based on management's knowledge of current facts and circumstances, assumptions
based on that knowledge and their predictions of future events and actions Actual results can always differ
from those estimates, possibly significantly

The table below sets out those items we consider particularly susceptble to changes in estimates and
assumptions, and the relevant accounting policy

ltem ) Accounting policy
Fair value of investments in subsidianes and joint ventures
Insurance contract habilities

Impairment of financial investments

Fair value of denvative financial instruments

Deferred acquisition costs

Prowvisions and contingent iabilities

Deferred income taxes

S<wvo-0

(C) Subsidiaries and joint ventures

Subsidianes are those entities (including special purpose entites) in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, has power to exercise control over financial and operating policies in order to gan economic
benefits

Joint ventures are entittes whereby the Company and other parties undertake an economic activity which 1s
subject to joint control ansing form a contractual agreement In a number of these, the Company's share of
the underlying assets and liabllites may be greater than 50% but the terms of the relevant agreements make
It clear that control is not exercised Such jointly-controlled entities are referred to as joint ventures in these
financial statements

In the Staterment of financial position, subsidianes and joint ventures are stated at their fair values, estmated
using applicable valuation models underpinned by Aviva pic’'s market capitahsaton These investments are
classified as avallable for sale {"AFS") financial assets, with changes n their far value being recorded in a
separate investment valuation reserve within equity

Where the cumulative changes recognised In equity represent an unreahsed loss, the investments are
reviewed to test whether an mpairment exists Where there 1s objective evidence that such an asset 1s
impaired, such as the financial difficulty of the entity or a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value
below cost, the unrealised loss recorded in equity I1s reclassified and charged to the income statement

{D) Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the
transactions Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of
monetary assets and habilites denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the income statement

Translation differences on debt secunties and other monetary financial assets measured at fair value and
designated as held at fair value through profit and loss (FV) (see policy O) are included in foreign exchange
gains and losses In the income statement Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities
which are designated as FV, are reported as part of the farr value gain or loss, whereas such differences on
AFS equities are included in the investment valuation reserve
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Accounting policies continued

(E) Product classification

Insurance or service contracts are defined as those containing significant insurance nsk if, and only If, an
insured event could cause an insurer to make significant additional payments in any scenaro, excluding
scenanos that lack commercial substance, at the inception of the contract Such contracts remain insurance
contracts unb! all nghts and obligations are extngwshed or expire Contracts can be reclassified as
Insurance contracts after inception if nsurance risk becomes significant Any contracts not considered to be
insurance contracts under IFRS are classified as investment contracts

As noted in policy A above, insurance contracts in general continue to be measured and accounted for
under existing accounting practices at the later of the date of transition to IFRS or the date of the acquisition
of the entity, in accordance with IFRS 4 Accounting for insurance contracts 1s determined in accordance
with the Statement of Recommended Practice 1ssued by the Association of Bntish Insurers, the most recent
version of which was i1ssued in December 2005, and amended in December 2006 In certain businesses,
the accounting policies or accounting estimates have been changed, as permitted by IFRS 4 and |AS 8
respectively, to remeasure designated insurance hatilities to reflect current market interest rates and
changes to regulatory capital requirements YWhen accounting policies or accounting estimates have been
changed and adjustments to the measurement basis have occurred then the financial statements of that
year will have disclosed the iImpacts accordingly

(F)} Premiums earned

Premiums written reflect business incepted dunng the year, and exclude any sales-based taxes or dutes or
levies Wntten premiwums include an estimate of pipeline premiums less a provision for anticipated lapses
Unearned premiums are those proportions of the premiums wntten in a year that relate to penods of risk
after the statement of financial positon date  Premiums collected by intermedianes, but not yet receved,
are assessed based on estmates from underwniting or past experience, and are Included in premiums
written

{G) Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income consists pnmarily of remnsurance commissions recevable, which are deferred
I the same way as acquisition costs as described in policy S All other fee and commission income 1s
recognised as the services are provided

(H) Net investment income

Investment income consists of dividends, interest and rents receivable for the year, movements in amortised
cost on debt secunities, realised gains and losses, and unrealised gamns and losses on FV investments (as
defined in polcy O) Dividends on equity secunties are recorded as revenue on the ex-dividend date
Interest iIncome 1s recognised as It accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the investment It
includes the interest rate differential on forward foreign exchange contracts Rental income 1s recognised on
an accruals basis

The realised gain or loss on disposal of an investment 1s the difference between the proceeds received, net
of transaction costs, and its ongina! cost or amortised cost as appropnate Unrealised gains and losses,
ansing on investments which have not been derecognised as a result of disposal or transfer, represent the
difference between the carrying value at the year end and the carrying value at the previous year end or
purchase value during the year, less the reversal of previously recognised unrealised gains and losses in
respect of disposals made dunng the year

(1} Insurance contract lialites

Claims

General insurance claims incurred include all losses occurring dunng the year, whether reported or not,
related handling costs, a reduction for the value of salvage and other recoveries, and any adjustments to
claims outstanding from previous years

Clams handling costs include internal and external costs tncurred in connection with the negotiation and
settlement of clams Internal costs include all direct expenses of the claims department and any part of the
general administrative costs directly attnbutable to the claims function
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Accounting policies continued

{1 Insurance contract habilities continued

Insurance provisions

(1) Outstanding claims provisions

Insurance outstanding claims prowisions are based on the estimated ulbmate cost of all clams incurred but not
settled at the Statement of financial position date, whether reported or not, together with related clams handiing
costs Significant delays are expenenced in the notification and settiement of certain types of general insurance
claims, particularly in respect of llabiity business, including environmental and polluton exposures, the ultmate
cost of which cannot be known with certainty at the Statement of financial positton date  Any estimate represents a
detemmination within a range of possible outcomes Further details of estimation techniques are given in note 20

Provisions for latent claims are discounted, using rates based on the relevant swap curve, in the relevant currency
at the reporting date, having regard to the expected settlement dates of the clams The discount rate is set at the
start of the accounting penod with any change i rates between the start and end of the accounting penod being
reflected as a change in insurance habilittes The range of discount rates used 1s descrnbed in note 20(b)

Qutstanding clams prowvistons are valued net of an allowance for expected future recovenes Recovenes include
non-insurance assets that have been acquired by exercising nghts to salvage and subrogation under the terms of
Insurance contracts

(i) Provision for unearned premmums

The proportion of wniten premiums, gross of commission payable to intermedianes, attributable to
subsequent penods 1s deferred as a provision for unearned premiums The change in this provision is taken
to the iIncome statement in order that revenue 1s recognised over the period of nsk

(1) Liabrity adequacy

At each reporting date, the Campany reviews its unexpired risks and carries out a lability adequacy test for
any overall excess of expected claims and deferred acquisition costs over unearmed premiums, using the
current estimates of future cash flows under its contracts, after taking account of the investment return
expected to anse on assets relating to the relevant provisions If these estimates show that the carrying
amount of its insurance liahties (less related deferred acquisition costs) 1s insufficlent in hight of the
estimated future cash flows, the Company recognises the deficiency in the income statement by setting up a
provision in the statement of financial position

Other assessments and levies

The Company 1s subject to vanous penodic insurance-related assessments or guarantee fund levies
Related provisions are established where there 1s a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event Such amounts are not included within insurance labifihes but are included under "other
llabilities” in the statement of financial position

(J) Reinsurance

The Company assumes and cedes rensurance in the normal course of business, with retention limits
varying by line of business Premiwums on reinsurance assumed are recognised as revenue i the same
manner as they would be If the reinsurance were considered direct business, taking into account the product
classification of the reinsured business The cost of reinsurance related to long-duration contracts 1s
accounted for over the life of the underlying reinsured policies, using assumptions consistent with those
used to account for these policies

Where general insurance habilihes are discounted, any corresponding reinsurance assefs are also
discounted using consistent assumptions

Gains or losses on buying retroactive reinsurance are recognised in the income staternent immediately at
the date of purchase and are not amortised Premiums ceded and clams reimbursed are presented on a
gross basis In the Income statement and Statement of financial position as appropnate

Remnsurance assets primanly include balances due from remsurance companies for ceded insurance
llabities Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estmated in a manner consistent with the outstanding
claims provisions or settled claims associated with the reinsured policies and 1n accordance with the relevant
reinsurance contract

Reinsurance contracts that principally transfer financial nsk are accounted for directly through the Statement
of financial position and are not included in reinsurance assets or labilities A deposit asset or liability 1s
recogrised, based on the consideration paid or received less any explicitly identified premiums or fees to be
retained by the reinsured

10
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Accounting policies continued

{J) Reinsurance continued

If a reinsurance asset 1s impaired, the Company reduces the carrying amount accordingly and recognises
that impairment loss In the iIncome statement A reinsurance asset 1s impaired If there s objective evidence,
as a result of an event that occurred after inthal recognition of the reinsurance asset, that the Company may
not receve all amounts due to it under the terms of the contract, and the event has an impact that can be
rehably measured on the amounts that the Company will receive from the reinsurer

{K) Property and equipment

Owner-occupied properties are carried at their revalued amounts, which are supported by market evidence,
and movements are taken to a separate reserve within equity When such properties are sold, the
accumulated revaluation surpluses are transferred from this reserve to retained earnings These properties
are depreciated down to their estimated residual values over their useful ives  All other items classed as
property and equipment within the Statement of financial position are carned at histoncal cost less
accumulated depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-ine method to write-down the cost of other assets to therr residual
values over ther estimated useful ives of three to five years The assets' residual values, useful ives and
method of depreciation are reviewed regularly, and at least at each financial year end, and adjusted If
appropnate

Where the carrying amount of an asset 1s greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it 15 wntten down
immediately to its recoverable amount Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are
determined by reference to therr carrying amount

Borrowing costs directly attnbutable to the acquistion and construction of property and equipment are
capitaised All reparrs and maintenance costs are charged to the income statement duning the financial
penod in which they are incurred The cost of major renovations 15 included in the carrying amount of the
asset when it 1s probable that future economic benefits In excess of the most recently assessed standard of
performance of existing asset will ffow to the Company and the renovation replaces an identifiable part of the
asset Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful Life of the related asset

(L) Investment property

Investment property 1s held for long-term rental yields and 1s not occupled by the Company Completed
investment property 15 stated at its fair value, which s supported by market evidence, as assessed by
qualfied external valuers Changes In fair values are recorded in the income statement within net iInvestment
income

(M) Impairment of non-financial assets

Property and equipment and other non-financial assets are reviewed for impaiment losses whenever events
or changes 1n circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable An impaiment toss
18 recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount,
which 1s the higher of an asset's net seling price and value in use For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately identfiable cash flows

{N) Derecognition and offset of financial assets and financial habilities
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised where

— The nights to receve cash flows from the asset have expired,

— The Company retains the nght to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay
them in full without matenal delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement, or

— The Company has transferred its nghts to receive cash flows from the asset and either transferred
substantally all the risks and rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substantially alt
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset

4
A financia! hiabiity 1s derecognised when the obligation under the lability 1s discharged or cancelled or
expires

Financial assets and habihties are offset and the net amount reported 1n the Statement of financial position

when there 1s a legally enforceable nght to set off the recogrised amounts and there 1s an intention to settle
on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously
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Accounting policies continued

(O) Financial investments

The Company classifies its investments as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FV") or
financial assets avallable for sale (“AFS”} The classification depends on the purpose for which the
investments were acquired, and 15 determined by management at inthal recognition The FV category has
two sub-categories — those that meet the definition as being held for trading and those the Company
chooses to designate as FV (referred to in this accounting policy as “other than trading”)

With the exception of investments in subsidianes and joint ventures, the FV category 18 used as the
Company’s investment or nsk management strategy is to manage its financial investments on a farr value
basis All secunties in the FV category are classified as other than trading

Purchases and sales of investments are recogrised on the trade date, which is the date that the Company
commits to purchase or sell the assets, at their far values less transaction costs Debt secunties are inthally
recorded at thetr fair value, which 1s taken to be amortised cost, with amortisation credited or charged to the
income statement Investments classified as other than trading are subsequently carmed at fair value
Changes in the fair value of other than trading investments are included i the income statement in the
pernod in which they arise

Fair values for Listed equity secunties are based on quoted bid prices or amounts denved from cash flow
models Fair values for unlisted equity securities are estimated using applicable pricefearnings or price/cash
flow ratios refined to reflect the specific circumstances of the issuer Equity securities, for which fair values
cannot be measured reliably, are recogmsed at cost less iImpairment

Financial guarantees are recognised indially at their fair value and are subsequently amortised over the
duration of the contract A hability 1s recogmsed for amounts payable under the guarantee if it 1s more likely
than not that the guarantee will be called upon

Impairment

The Company reviews the carrying value of its investments on a regular basis If the carrying value of an
Investment Is greater than the recoverable amount, the carrying value 1s reduced through a charge to the
income statement in the penod of impairment

(P} Denvative financial instruments and hedging

Derivative financial instruments are foreign exchange contracts that derive therr value mainly from
underlying foreign exchange rates All denvatives are Intially recognised in the Statement of financial
position at their fair value, which usually represents therr cost They are subsequently re-measured at their
fair value, with the method of recognising movements In this value depending on whether they are
designated as hedging instruments and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged Fair values are obtained
from quoted market prices or, If these are not available, by using valuation techniques such as discounted
cash flow models or option pricing models All denvatives are cammed as assets when the farr values are
positive and as liabihties when the farr values are negative Premiums paid for derivatives are recorded as
an asset on the Statement of financial position at the date of purchase, representing their fair value at that
date

Dernvative contracts may be traded on an exchange or over-the-counter ("OTC") Exchange-traded
dernvatives are standardised and include certain futures and option contracts OTC derivative contracts are
individually negotiated between contracting parties and include forwards, swaps, caps and floors
Dernvatives are subject to vanous nsks including market, liquidity and credit nisk, similar to those related to
the underlying financial instruments

The notional or contractual amounts associated with derivative financial instruments are not recorded as
assets or llabilites on the Statement of financial position as they do not represent the fair value of these
transactions These amounts are disclosed in note 31

Currency swaps

Currency swaps, In ther simplest form, are contractual agreements that involve the exchange of both
periodic and final amounts In two different currencies Exposure to gan or loss on both types of swap
contracts will increase or decrease over therr respective lives as a function of matunty dates, interest and
foreign exchange rates, and the timing of payments

12




Aviva International Insurance Limited
Annuat Report and Financial Statements 2010

Accounting policies continued

(P) Derivative financial instruments and hedging continued

Foreign exchange contracts

Foreign exchange contracts, which mclude spot, forward and futures contracts, represent agreements to
exchange the currency of one country for the currency of another country at an agreed price and setflement
date Foreign exchange option contracts are simular to interest rate option contracts, except that they are
based on currencies, rather than interest rates Exposure to gain or loss on these contracts will increase or
decrease over their respective lives as currency exchange and interest rates fluctuate

For a vanety of reasons, the above denivative transactions, while providing effective economic hedges under
the Company's nsk management positions, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific IFRS
rules and are therefore treated as denvatives held for trading Therr far value gams and losses are
recognised immediately in other trading income

(Q) Loans

Loans with fixed matunties, including mortgage loans on investment property and collateral loans, are
recogmised when cash I1s advanced to borrowers The majonity of these loans are carmed at ther unpaid
principal balances and adjusted for amortisaton of premium or discount, non-refundable loan fees and
related direct costs These amounts are deferred and amortised over the \fe of the loan as an adjustment to
loan yield using the effective mterest rate method

To the extent that a loan Is considered to be uncollectable, it 1s written off as impaired through the income
statement Any subsequent recovenes are credited to the income statement

{R) Collateral

The Company receives and pledges collateral in the form of cash or non-cash assets in respect of stock
lending transactions, certain dernvative contracts and loans, in order to reduce the credit nsk of these
transactions The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the
counterparty

Collateral receved in the form of cash, which 1s not legally segregated from the Company, Is recognised as
an asset In the statement of financial position with a corresponding liability for the repayment in financial
llabiiies  Non-cash collateral receved 1S not recognised In the statement of financial pasitien unless the
Company either sells or repledges these assets in the absence of default, at which point the obligation to
return this collateral s recogrised as a hability

Collateral pledged n the form of cash, which s legally segregated from the Company, 1s derecognised from
the statement of financial positton with a corresponding receivable for its return  Non-cash collateral
pledged 1s not derecognised from the statement of financial pesihion unless the Company defaults on its
obhgations under the relevant agreement, and therefore continues to be recognised In the statement of
financial position within the appropriate asset classification

(S) Deferred acquisition costs
The costs directly attributable to the acquisition of new business for iInsurance contracts are deferred to the
extent that they are expected to be recoverable out of future margins in revenues on those contracts

Where such business 1s reinsured, an appropriate proportion of the deferred acquisition costs 15 attributed to
the reinsurer, and is treated as a separate hability

Deferred acquisition costs are armortised over the penod in which the related revenues are earned The
reinsurers’ share of deferred acquisition costs 1s amortised In the same manner as the underlying asset

Deferred acquisition costs are reviewed by category of business at the end of each reporting peried and are
written off where they are no longer considered to be recoverable

{T) Statement of cash flows

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at banks and in hand, deposits held at call with banks, treasury
bills and other short-term highly iiquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change In value Such investments are those with less than
three months' matunty from the date of acquisition, or which are redeemable on demand with only an
insignificant change In therr fair values
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Accounting policies continued

(T) Statement of cash flows continued

Cash and cash equivalents continued
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents also include bank overdrafts,
which are included 1n payables and other financial habiliies on the statement of financial position

Operating cash flows

Purchases and sales of foans and financial investments, and related investment income, are included within
operating cash flows as the purchases are funded from cash flows associated with the ongination of
insurance contracts, net of payments of related clams

{U) Leases

Leases, where a significant portion of the rnsks and rewards of ownership 1s retained by the lessor, are
classified as operating leases Assets held for use in such leases are included in property and equipment,
and are depreciated to their residual values over therr estmate usefu! ives Rentals from such leases are
credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the relevant leases Payments
made as lessee under operating leases {net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the
incoeme statement on a straight-line basis over the penod of the relevant leases

(V) Provisions and contingent lhiabilities ,

Provisions are recogrised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estmate of the amount of the obligation can be made Where the
Company expects a provision to be rembursed, for example under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement i1s recognised as a separate asset but onty when the reimbursement 1s virtually certain

The Company recognises a provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to be denved from a
contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract

Contingent liabilities are disclosed if there 1s a possible future obligation as a result of a past event, or If
there 1s a present obligation as a result of a past event but either a payment 1s not probable or the amount
cannot be reliably estimated

{W) Income taxes

The current tax expense 1s based con the taxable profits for the year, after any adjustments in respect of prior
years Tax, including tax relief for losses If applicable, 1s allocated over profits before taxation and amounts
charged or credited to reserves as approprate

Prowvision 1s made for deferred tax liabilities, or credit taken for deferred tax assets, using the lability method,
on alt matenal temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and habiiities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements The rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
are used to determine the deferred tax

Current and deferred tax relating to tems recogmised in other comprehensive income and directly in equity
are similarly recognised in other comprehensive income and divectly in equity respectively Deferrred tax
related to fair value re-measurement of available for sale investments, owner-occupied properties and other
amounts charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income 1s recognised in the statement of
financial position as a deferred tax asset or hability

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will be available
agamst which the temporary differences can be utilised

Deferred tax 1s provided on temporary differences ansing from investments in subsidianes, associates and
Joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it 1s
prabable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax i1s not provided on revaluations of investments i subsidiaries as under current tax legistation no
tax 1s expected to anse on ther chsposal

(X) Dividends
Intenm dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the perod in which they are paid Final
dividends on these shares are recognised when they have been approved by shareholders

14




Aviva International Insurance Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

Accounting policies continued

(Y) Equalisation provision

Equalisation provisions are established in accordance with UK company law These provisions are n
additron to the provisions required to meet the anticipated ulttimate cost of settiement of outstanding claims
at the Statement of financial position date Under IFRS, the provisions are not reported in the Statement of
financial position as no hability exists but are presented within retained earnings, net of attnbutable tax relief
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Income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2008
Note £m £m

Income 1
Gross written premiums 1,453 1,216
Premiums ceded to reinsurers {16) {28)
Premiums written net of reinsurance 1,437 1,180
Net change in provision for unearned premiums {26) 376
Net earned premiums F 1,411 1566
Fee and commission iIncome G 27 17
Net investment income H 452 1,177
Profit on the disposal of subsidianes 50 454
Finance income 4 13
1,944 3,227

Expenses 2
Claims paid, net of recoveries from rensurers {1,452) (1,371
Change ininsurance labilities, net of reinsurance 55 323
Fee and commission expense (345) {427}
Other expenses {288) (187)
Finance costs {10) {9)
{1,740) (1,671)
Profit before tax 204 1,556
Tax credit WES 35 28
Profit for the year 239 1,684

The accounting policies {identfied alphabetically) on pages 7 to 15 and notas (identified numerically) on

pages 20 to 54 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Ncte £m £m
Profit for the year 239 1,584
Other comprehensive mncome
Subsidianes and joint ventures
Fair value gains transferred to profit on disposal C. 1817 (50) {454)
Fair value losses on investments in subsidianes and joint ventures  C,7{a),7(d)&17 (166) (280)
Impaiment losses on investments previously revalued through
other comprehensive income, now taken to the income statement C,2817 118 1
Other comprehensive iIncome, net of tax {98) (733)
Total comprehensive income for the year 141 851

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Ordinary Share Owner- Investment Special Other Retained Total
share premium occupied valuation reserve reserve earnings equity

capital properties reserve
raserve

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2009 7.650 3,639 1 5,248 111 150 93 16,892
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1,684 1,584
Other comprehensive iIncome - - - (733) - - - {733)
Total comprehensive income for - {733) 1,584 851
the year - - - -
Reduction in share capital - {1,000) - - - - 1,000 -
Balance at 31 December 2009 7,650 2,639 1 4515 111 150 2,677 17,743
Profit for the year - - - - - - 239 239
Other comprehensive income - - - (98) - - - (98)
Total comprehensive iIncome for - - - (98) - - 239 141
the year
Cividends (note 6) - - - - - - (500} (500)
Balance at 31 December 2010 7,650 2,639 1 4,417 111 150 2,416 17,384

The accounting policies (identified alphabetically) on pages 7 to 15 and notes {identified numerically) on
pages 20 to 54 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note £m £m
Assets
Investments in subsidiaries C&7(a) 16,419 16,541
Investments in joint ventures Cc4&s 7 8
Property and eguipment K& 3 3
Investment property L&10 4 418
Loans Q&11 127 125
Finangial Investments N,O,PR&12 981 1,445
Reinsurance assets J, 19821 414 489
Receivables 14 2,660 2,183
Deferred acquisitton costs S5&15 152 158
Current tax asset W22 24 -
Group relief asset W&22 130 202
Prepayments and accrued income 15 25 17
Cash and cash equivalents T&28 332 686
Total assets 21,278 21,905
Equity
Capital
Ordinary share capital 16 7,650 7.650
Capital reserves
Share premium 16 2,639 2,639
Other reserves 17 4,679 4777
Retained earnings 18 2,416 2,677
Total equity 17,384 17,743
Liabilities
Gross insurance liabllities 1,19820 2,549 2,636
Provisions V&23 19 21
Deferred tax liabiliies Wwa22 - 10
Current tax liabilities W&22 3 19
Payables and other financial habiities N&24 1,307 1,456
Other habiites 25 16 20
Total habllities 3,894 4,162
Total equity and habilities 21,278 21,805

Approved by the Beard on 30 March 2011

= a-

P C Reg
Directo

The accounting pohictes {identified alphabetically) on pages 7 to 15 and notes (identified numerically) on

pages 20 to 54 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations 28(a) {355) {359)
Net cash used in operating activities (355) {359)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (355) (3569)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January €86 1,045
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1 -
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 28(b) 332 686

The accounting policies (identified alphabetically) on pages 7 to 15 and notes (identified numencally) on

pages 20 to 54 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1 Detaiis of income

2010 2009
Note £m £m
Gross written premiums 1,453 1,216
Less premiums ceded to reinsurers 21(c)(n) (16} (26)
Net change in provision for unearned premiums 20{(d) {26) 376
Net earned premiums 1,411 1,566
Fee and commission income
Remnsurance commuissions recewable 13 17
Other fee income 14 -
27 17
Total revenue 1,438 1,583
Net investment income
Interest and similar income
From investments designated as other than trading 3 24
Dividend income 468 1,055
Other income from investments designated as trading
Realised losses (120) -
Unrealised gains 12(b) 125 6
5 6
Other income from investments designated as other than trading
Realised losses {122) {14)
Unrealised gains 12{b) 67 95
{65) 81
Net income/ {expense) from investment properties
Rent 1 3
Expenses relating to these properties {2) -
Profit on disposal 4 -
Fair value losses on investment properties 10 {1) {8)
2 (5)
Foreign exchange gains on investments other than trading 2 17
Other investment expense (1) (1)
Net investment income 452 1,177
Profit on the disposal of subsidiares 7(b) 50 454
Finance income 4 13
Total Income 1,944 3,227
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2 Details of expenses

Note
2010 2009
£Em £m
Claims and benefits paid 1,218 1,402
Less Claim recovernes from reinsurers {66) (31)
Claims and benefits paid, net of recoveries from reinsurers 1,152 1,371
Change in insurance habilities 20(b) (149) (364)
Less Change in reinsurance asset for insurance provisions 21(c)(1) 94 41
Change in insurance habilities , net of reinsurance {55) (323)
Fee and commission expense, net of reinsurance
Acquisition costs
Commussion expenses 222 209
Change in deferred acquisition costs 6 114
Other acquisition costs 117 104
345 427
Other operating expenses
Corporate costs 47 76
Restructunng costs 17 1
Impairment of investments in subsidianes 7(d)&17 118 1
Net foreign exchange losses 8 ]
Qther expenses 98 100
288 187
Finance costs
Unwind of discount on claims provisions, net of reinsurance 20(b)&21(c) 10 9
10 9
Total expenses 1,740 1,671

3 Directors and employees

All directors are remunerated by Aviva Employment Services Limited, a fellow subsiciary of the ultimate
parent company, Aviva plc The emcluments of these directors are recharged to operating companies as

appropnate and it 1s not practical to calculate the exact charge borne by the Company

The Company has no employees

4 Auditor's remuneration

The total remuneration payable by the Company, excluding VAT, to its auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, n

respect of the audit of these financial statements, 1s shown below

2010 2009
£'000 £'000
Fees payable to Emst & Young LLP for the statutory audit of the Company 84 93

Fees payable to the Company's auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, and its associates for services other than the
statutory audit of the Company are not disclosed in the Company's financial statements since the
consolidated financial staterments of the ultimate parent, Aviva plc, disclose non-audit fees on a consolidated

basis
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Notes to the financial statements continued
5. Tax
(a) Tax credited to the income statement

{1) The total tax credit compnses !

' 2010 2009
£m £m
Current tax
For the year 20 (19)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 5 25
Total current tax 25 <]
Deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences (note 5(a)in)) 10 22
Total deferred tax 10 22
Total tax credited to the income statement 35 28

(n} Unrecognised tax losses and temporary differences of previous years were used to reduce current tax
expense and deferred tax expense by £Enil and £2 milhon, respectively (2009 £ni and £mif respectively)

(m} Deferred tax credited to the income statement represents maovements on the following items

2010 2009

£m £m

Technical provisions and other msurance items 2 {3)
Provisions and other tming differences 4 3
Accelerated capital allowances - 1
tUnused losses and tax credits 4 21
Total deferred tax credited to iIncome statement 10 22

{b) Tax credited/(charged) to other comprehensive income
There was no tax credited or charged to other comprehensive income in either 2010 or 2009
(¢} Tax reconciliation

The tax on the profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would anse using the tax rate in the
United Kingdom as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

Net profit before tax 204 1,556
Tax calculated at standard UK corporation tax rate of 28% (2009 28%) (57) (436)
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior years 13 48
Non-assessable dividends 131 296
Non-taxable gain on sale of subsidiares 14 127
Disallowable expenses (4) (1)
Deferred tax assets not recognised (29) -
Impairment on subsidianes (33) -
Other - (6)
Total tax credited to income statement (note 5(a)) 35 28

Legislation was introduced 1n Finance {No2 ) Act 2010 to reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 28%
to 27% with effect from 1 April 2011 The effect of this reduction 1s refiected in the deferred tax assets and
habilities recorded on the statement of financial position On 23 March 2011, the UK government announced
that the rate from 1 Apnl 2011 would fall by a further 1% to 26% This change in rate has not been reflected
tn the value of the deferred tax assets and habilites since the legislation introducing this rate has not been
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date

The UK government has also announced its intention to legislate to reduce the rate further by 1% per annum

failing to 23% with effect from 1 April 2014 The directors estimate that the effect of these changes will be
immaternal
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6 Dividends
2010 2008
£m £m
Ordinary dividends declared and charged to equity in the year
Intenm 2010 500 -
500 -
7 Investments in subsidianes
(a) Movements in the Company's investments in its subsidianes are as follows
2010 2009
£m £m
Farr value at 1 January 16,541 16,824
Additions 97 687
Transfers to subsidiary and fellow subsidianes (54) {795}
Liquidations - {3)
Caputal reductions and share buy-backs - {2)
Movement in fair value {note 17} {165) (280)
At 31 December 16,419 16,541

All investments in subsidiaries are recorded as Level 3 investments in the fair value hierarchy (see note
13(c))

{b} Material movements

Additions

On 25 November 2010, the Company transferred its shareholding in Aviva Limited to its direct subsidiary,
Awviva Insurance Limited, at its fair value on the date of transfer, £54 million, in return for additional ordinary
shares in that company As a result, the value of the Company's holding in Awviva Insurance Limited
increased by £54 millon The Company has recognised a non-distributable profit of £50 milion on this
transfer

Dunng the year, the Company subscribed for cash additonal ordinary shares totalling £43 milhon in Aviva
Asia Pte Limited

Movement in fair value
The decline in the fair value of the Company's investment in subsidianes reflects changes in the composition
of the assets of the subsidianes, partally offset by an increase in Aviva pic’s market capitalisation

(c) Principal subsidiaries

The principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December 2010 are listed below These subsidianes are all
directly wholly-owned and transact insurance or reinsurance business, fund management or services In
connection therewith

United Kingdom

Awiva Insurance Limited

Gresham Insurance Company Lirmited
RAC plc

Singapore
Awviva Asia Pte Limited

The Company has taken advantage of section 410 of the Companies Act 2006 which permits it to disclose
information only i respect of those undertakings whose results, or financial posihon, in the opmiion of the
directors, principally affected the figures shown 1n the Company's annual accounts Full information (both
that which 1s disclosed in the annual accounts and that which s not} will be annexed to the Company's next
Annual Return delivered to the registrar of companies
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7 Investments In subsidiaries
{d) Restructuning and impairments

The Awviva Group is currently undertaking a restructunng of its Asia Pacific regional entities which involves
the transfer of most of the shareholdings in these entities from the Company and its indirect subsidiary,
Aviva International Holdings Limited (“AIH"), to Aviva Asia Holdings Prnivate Limited (‘AAHPLY), a wholly-
owned direct subsidiary of AlH, via its direct subsidiary, Aviva Insurance Limited {(*Al")

On 1 January 2011, the Company transferred its entire shareholding in Aviva Asia Pte Limited to Al and
subsequently to AAHPL for £28 mullion, in exchange for ordinary shares of the same value issued by Al The
cost of these shares was £79 million and the loss ansing on transfer of £51 million has been recognised as
an impairment in these financial statements

Further impairments totaling £67 milion have been recognised on several of the Company's other
subsidianes

8 Investments in joint ventures

2040 2009

£m £m

Fair value at 1 January 8 8
Movement in fair value (note 17) (1) -
At 31 December 7 8

The investments compnse two 50% joint venture partnerships with Bank Zachodni WBK in Poland for Iife
and general insurance businesses

9 Property and equipment

Owner-
occupied
properties Total
£m £m
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2008 3 3
At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 3 3
Carrying amount
At 1 January 2009, 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 3 3

Owner-occupied properties are stated at therr revalued amounts, as assessed by qualified external valuers
or by local qualified staff of the Group In overseas operations, all with recent relevant experence These
values are assessed in accordance with the relevant parts of the current RICS Appraisal and Valuation
Standards in the UK, and with current local valuation practices in other countnies This assessment, on the
basis of Existing Use Value and in accordance with UK Practice Statement 1 3, 1s the estimated amount for
which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an
arm's-length transaction, after proper marketing wheremn the parties had acted knowledgeably, prudently and
without compulsion, assuming that the buyer 1s granted vacant possession of all parts of the property
required by the business and disregarding potenhal alternative uses The valuation assessment adopts
market-based evidence and 1s in ine with guidance from the Internatonal Valuation Standards Committee
and the requirements of IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment

If owner-occupied properties were stated an a hustorncal cost basis, the carrying amount would be £2 muitlon
(2009 £2 million)
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10 Investment property

2010 2009
£m £m

Carrying value
At 1 January 48 56
Disposal (43) -
Fair value losses (note 1) () (8)
At 31 December 4 48

All investment properties are freehold Investment properties are stated at therr market values as assessed
by qualfied external valuers Values are calculated using a discounted cash flow approach and are based
on current rental income plus anticipated uplifts at the next rent review, assuming no growth In rental income
thereafter This uplift and the discount rate are derived from rates implied by recent market transactions on
similar properties The fair value of investment properties leased to thid parties under operating leases was
£2 mithon (2009 £45 mufion) Future contractual aggregate minimum lease rentals receivable under the
non-cancellable portion of these leases are given in note 27

11 Loans
2010 2009
£m £m
Carrying value
At 1 January 125 -
Increase dunng the year 2 125
At 31 December 127 125

The rate of Interest on the existing loan 1s fixed at 9 3725% and the matunty date 1s 31 March 2018 The
new loan taken out dunng the year 1s fixed at 7 362% and the matunty date 15 9 March 2015

12 Financial investments

(a) Carrying amount
Financial Investments comprise

2010
At fair value through profit
or loss
Trading Other than
trading Total
£m £m £m
Debt securities
UK government - 7 171
Non-UK government - 25 25
Corporate — Non-UK - 582 582
Other - 128 128
- 906 906
Equity securnities
Corporate ~ UK - - .
Corporate — Non-UK - 1 1
- 1 1
Other investments
Dervative financial instruments (note 31) 62 - 62
Uit trusts and specialised investment vehicles - 12 12
62 12 74
Total financial investments 62 919 981
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12 Financial investments continued

2009
At fair value through profit
or loss
Trading Other than
trading Total
£m £fm £m
Debt secunties
UK government - 1,036 1,036
Non-UK government - 17 17
Corporate ~ Non-UK - 73 73
Other - 43 43
- 1,169 1,168
Equity securities
Corporate - UK - 13 13
Corporate — Non-UK - 230 230
- 243 243
Other investments
Dernwvative financial instruments a3 - 33
Total financial iInvestments 33 1,412 1,445

Of the above total, £864 mulhon (2009 £1,422 milkon) 1s expected to be recovered more than one year aftet
the statement of financial position date

(b) Cost, unrealised gains and fair value

The following 15 a summary of the cost/amortised cost, gross unrealised gains and losses and fair value of
financial nvesiments

2010
Cost/ Unreahsed Unreahsed losses Fair value
amortised gamns and impairments
cost
£m £m £m £m
Debt secunties 916 2 {12) 906
Equity securities 95 1 (95) 1
Cther secunties
Denvative financial instruments 42 20 - 62
Deposits with credit institutions 5 - (5) -
Unit trusts and specialised 16 2 (6) 12
investment vehicles
1,074 25 (118) 981
2009
Cost/ Unrealised Unrealised Faur value
amortised gains losses and
cost impairments
£m £m £m £m
Debt securities 1,173 2 (8) 1,169
Equity secunties 300 - {57) 243
Other securities
Dervative financial instruments 33 - - 33
Deposits with credit institutions 4 - 4 -
Unit trusts and specialised 2 - (2) -
investment vehicles
1,512 2 (69) 1,445
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12 Financial investments continued
All unrealised gains and lesses and impairments on financial investments classified as fair value through
profit or loss have been recognised in the Income statement

Unrealised gains and losses on financial investments classified as at far value through profit or loss
recognised in the income statement in the year were a net gan of £192 million (2009 £101 muflion)

(c) Stock lending

The Campany has entered into stock lending arrangements in the UK during the year in accordance with
established market conventions Investments are lent to locally domicited counterparties and governed by
agreements wntten under English and Welsh law

It s not the Company’s practice to enter into stock lending or repurchase agreements which result in the
derecognition of financral assets from its balance sheet Financial assets subject to such agreements are
sold to be repurchased at a fixed pnce, usually market prnce on execution, or loaned for a fee The Company
therefare retans exposure to the market risk of the transferred securities Because, as transferor, it has
retained substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the transferred securties, they reman on
balance sheet

The Company receives collateral in order to reduce the credit nsk of these arrangements The level of
collateral held 1s monitored regularly, with further collateral obtained where this s considered necessary to
manage the Company's nsk exposure In certain markets, the Company or the Company's appointed
stocklending managers obtamn legal ownership of the coliateral received and can re-pledge it as collateral
elsewhere or sell outright in the absence of default Collateral must be in a readily realisable form such as
Iisted secunttes and 15 held In segregated accounts Transfer of title always occurs for the collateral
received, although no market nsk or economic benefit I1s taken The carrying amounts of financial assets
received and pledged n this manner at 31 December 2010 were £18 million and £17 million respectively
(2009 £100 mihon and £nif respectively) No collateral was actually sold or re-pledged in the absence of
default in either 2010 or 2009

13 Fair value methodology
{a) Basis for determining fair value huerarchy of financial instruments

For financial assets and habilities carnied at fair value, the Company has categorised the measurement basis
into a 'fair value hierarchy' as follows

Quoted market prices 1n active markets ~ ("Level 1")

Inputs to Level 1 far values are quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for dentical assets and
habiites  An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or lability occur with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pncing information on an ongoing basis Examples are listed equities in
active markets, listed debt secunties in active markets and quoted umit trusts in active markets

Modelled with significant observable market inputs - ("Level 2")

Inputs to Level 2 fair values are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly  If the asset or lability has a specified {contractual) term,
a Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the instrument Level 2 inputs include the
following

Level 2 inputs include the following

+ quoted prices for similar (1@ not identical) assets and labilities in active markets,

s quotad pnces for identical or similar assets and liabiities in markets that are not active, the prices
are not current, or price quotations vary substantially either over tme or among market makers, or
in which little information 1s released publicly,

= Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or lability (for example, interest
rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, volatilities, prepayment speeds,
loss severities, credit nisks, and default rates), and

« nputs that are denved principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by correlation
or other means (market-corroborated inputs)
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13. Fair value methodology continued

Examples of these are secunties measured using discounted cash flow models based on market observable
swap yields, isted debt or equity secunties in a market that 1s inactive, and investments in subsidianes
valued using apphcable models underpinned by Awviva plc’'s market capitalisation  Valuations, whether
sourced from internal models or third parties, ncorporate credit nsk by adjusting the spread above the yield
curve for government treasury secunties for the appropnate amount of credit nsk for each issuer, based on
observed market transactions To the extent observed market spreads are either not used n valuing a
secunty, or do not fully reflect liqudity nsk, our valuation methodology, whether sourced from internal
models or third parties, reflects a liquidity premium

Where we use broker quotes and no information as to the observability of inputs 1s provided by the broker,
we generally validate the prnice quoted by the broker by using internal models with observable inputs  When
the prnce obtained from the broker and internal model are similar, we lock to the inputs used in our internal
model to understand the observability of the inputs used by the broker In circumstances where internal
models are not used to validate broker prices, and the observability of inputs used by brokers is unavailable,
the investment s classified as Level 3 Broker quotes are usually non-binding

Modelled with significant unobservable market inputs - ("Level 3")
Inputs to Level 3 fair values are uncbservable inputs for the asset or lliabiity Unobservable inputs may have
been used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for
situations In which there 1s little, If any, market activity for the asset or hability at the measurement date (or
market information for the wnputs to any valuation models) As such, unobservable inputs reflect the
assumptions the Company considers that market participants would use in pncing the asset Examples are
certain private equity investments and private placements, and investments in subsidianes valued at net
asset value

1
{b) Fair value hierarchy
The majonty of the Company's financial assets and certain financial habilities are valued based on quoted
market information or abservable market data A small percentage (less than 1%) of total assets recorded at
fair value, are based on estimates and recorded as Level 3 investments Where estimates are used, these
are based on a combination of independent third party evidence and internally developed models, calibrated
to market observable data where possible Third party valuations using significant unobservable inputs
validated against Level 2 internally modelled valuations are classified as Level 3, where there 1s a significant
difference between the third party price and the internally modelled value Where the difference s
insigmificant, the instrument would be classified as Level 2 Whilst such valuahons are sensitive to estimates,
it 1s believed that changing one or more of the assumptions to reasonably possible alternative assumptions
would not change the fair value significantly An analysis of financial assets and liabilities according to fair
value hierarchy is given below

2010
Fair value hierarchy Statement of
financial
Levef 1 Level2 Level3 position total
£m £m £m £m
Financial investments
Debt secunties 906 - - 906
Equity secunties - - 1 1
Other investments 11 51 12 74
917 51 13 981
2009
Fair value hierarchy Statement of
financial position
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 total
£m £m £m £m
Financial investrments
Debt secunties 1,169 - - 1,169
Equity securities 230 - 13 243
Other Investments - 33 - 33
1,399 33 13 1,445
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13 Fair value methodology continued

{c) The table below shows movements in the assets measured at fair value based on valuation techniques
for which any significant input 1s not based on observable market data (Level 3 only)

Equity Other Total
securities  Investments

£m £m £m

Total Funds
Balance at 1 January 2010 13 - 13
Transfers tnto Level 3 - 12 12
Disposals {12) - (12)
Balance at 31 December 2010 1 12 13

In addition to the above, all investments in subsidianes are constdered to be Level 3 investments (Note 7)
The unobservable inputs to the fair value relate to assumptions made to indvidual subsidiary net assets or
embedded values, all of which are underpinned by the market capitalisation of Aviva plc

Whilst such valuatons are sensitive to estmates, it 1s believed that changing one or more of the
assumptions to reasonably possible alternatives assumptions would not change the fair value significantly

14 Receivables

2010 2009

£m £m

Amounts due from intermedianes 5 i1
Amounts due from reinsurers 14 125
Amounts due from holding company (note 32(b){(u}) 2,326 1,626
Amounts due from subsidianes {note 32(b){u}} 275 72
Amounts due from other Aviva Group companies (note 32{b){i})) 16 56
Other receivables 24 393
2,660 2,183

Expected to be recovered in less than one year 2,660 2,041
Expected to be recovered in more than one year - 142
2,660 2,183

Cancentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are imited due to the size and spread of the
Company's trading base No further credit nisk provision 1s therefore required In excess of the nomal
provision for doubtful receivables

15 Deferred acquisition costs, prepayments and accrued income

{a) The carrying amount compnses

2010 2009

Em £m

Deferred acquisition costs in respect of insurance contracts 152 158

Total 152 158
{b) The movements in deferred acquisition costs during the year are

2010 2009

£m £m

Carrying amount at 1 January 158 272

Acquisttion costs written dunng the year, gross of reinsurance 338 313

Amortisation {(344) {427)

Carrying amount at 31 December 152 158

Deferred acquisition costs are generally recoverable within one year of the statement of financial position
date
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15. Deferred acquisition costs, prepayments and accrued income continued
{c) Prepayments and accrued income

Prepayments and accrued income are expected to be recovered within one year after the statement of
financial position date

16 Ordinary share capital

(a} Details of the Company's ordinary share capital are as follows

2010 2009
Allotted, called up and fully paid

765,042 (2009 765,042} ordinary shares of £10,000 each 7,650 7,650

The Companies Act 2006 abolished the requirement for a company to have an authonsed share capital and
the articles of associatton adopted by the Company on 22 January 2010 reflect this Directors will still be
imited as to the number of shares they can at any time allot as allotment authority continues to be required
under the Act Ordinary shares in 1ssue in the Company rank pan passu All the ordinary shares in issue
carry the same nght to receive all dwvidends and other distributions declared, made or paid by the Company

(b) Movements in the year comprise

Number Share Share
of shares capital Premium
£m £m
At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 765,042 7,650 2,629
17 Other reserves
Owner-
occupied Investment
properties valuation
reserve reserve (see
{see
accounting accounting Special Other
policy K) policy L) reserve reserves Total
£m £m £m Em £m
Balance at 1 January 2009 1 5248 111 150 5,510
Ansing in the year
Fair value gains transferred to profit on disposal - {(454) - - {454)
of subsidianes (note 1}
Fair value losses In subsidianes and joint - {280) - - {280)
ventures (note 7{a))
Impairments charged to income statement - 1 - - 1
{note 2)
Balance at 31 December 2009 1 4,515 11 150 4777
Ansing in the year
Farr value gains transferred to profit on - {50) - - {50)
disposal of subsidianies (note 1)
Fair value losses in subsidiaries and joint - (168) - - (1686)
ventures (note 7(a) & note 8)
Impairments charged to mcome staternent - 118 - - 118
_{note 2}
Balance at 31 December 2010 1 4,417 111 150 4,679

Special reserve

As part of the ongoing Aviva Group restructunng, the Company's parent, Aviva Group Holdings Limited
("AGH") transferred its entire shareholding in Aviva Insurance UK Limited at its fair value of £1,348 million to
the Company on 31 December 2007 The consideration was satisfied by the 1ssue of new shares in the
Company with the nominal value of £1,237 million to AGH, and the establishment of a special reserve of
£111 milhlon under the group reconstruction relief provisions of section 132 of the Companies Act 1985
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18 Retained earnings

2010 2009

£m £m

Balance at 1 January 2,677 93
Profit for the year 239 1,584
Bwidends {note 6) {500) -
Reduction in share capital - 1,000
Balance at 31 December 2,416 2,677
Districutable 2,004 2,330
Non-distributable 412 347
Balance at 31 December 2,416 2,677

19 lnsurance contract habilities and associated reinsurance

The following 1s a summary of the reinsurance assets and related insurance provisions as at 31 December

Gross Gross
insurance Reinsurance 2010 nsurance Reinsurance 2009
provisions assets Net provisions assets Net
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Qutstanding claims provisions {1,269) 239 {1,030) (1,420) 285 (1,135)
Provisions for claims incurred
but not reported {560) 175 {385) {522) 204 (318)
{1,829) A4 {1,415) {1,942) 489 {1.453)
Provision for unearned
premiums {720) - {720) {(694) - (694)
Totals {2,549) 414 {2,135) (2,636) 489 (2,147)
20 Insurance habilities
(a) Carrying amount
Insurance habilites at 31 December comprise
2010 2009
£m £m
Qutstanding cfaims provisions 1,269 1,420
Provision for claims incurred but not reported 560 522
1,829 1,942
Provision for unearned premums 720 €94
Total 2,549 2,636

{b) General insurance habilities

Provisions for outstanding claims

Sigmificant detays occur i the notification and seftliement of claims and a substantial measure of experience
and judgement s involved in assessing outstanding habihties, the ulbmate cost of which cannot be known
with certainty at the Statement of finacial position date The reserves for general insurance are based on
information currently avallable, however, it ts inherent in the nature of the busingss written that the ultmate
labilities may vary as a result of subsequent developments

Provisions for outstanding claims are established to cover the outstanding expected ultimate liabity for
losses and loss adjustment expenses (“LAE") in respect of all clams that have already occurred The
provisions established cover reported claims and associated LAE, as well as claims incurred but not yet
reported and associated LAE

Outstanding claims prowvisions are based on undiscounted estimates of future clam payments, except for the
following classes of business for which discounted provisions are held

Rate Mean term of habiities
Class 2010 2009 2010 2009
Reinsured London Market business 33% 4 0% 12 years 10 years
Latent clams 088%to417% 102%to458% 15 years 15 years
Structured settlements 3 2% 33% 35 years 35 years
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20 Insurance liabiiities continued

(b) General insurance habilites continued
The gross outstanding claims provision before discounting was £2,148 million {2009 £2,302 mihon) The
penod of time which will elapse before the liabilihes are settled has been estimated by modelling the
settlement patterns of the underlying clams

The discount rate that has been applied to latent claims reserves s based on the relevant swap curve
having regard to the expected settlement dates of the claims The range of discount rates used depends on
the duration of the claims and i1s given in the table above The duration of the claims span over 35 years,
with the average duration estimated to be 15 years

During 2010, across the UKGI group, we have expenenced an increase in the number of bodily injury claims
settled by pericdic payment orders (PPQOs) or structured settlements, which are reserved for on a discounted
basis

Lump sum payments in settlement of bodily injury clams decided by the UK courts are calculated in
accordance with the Ogden Tables The Ogden Tables contan a discount rate that i1s set by the Lord
Chancellor and that 1s applied when calculating the present value of loss of earnings for claims settlement
purposes The Ogden discount rate 1s currently under review by the Lord Chancellor The outcome of this
review 1s expected to be announced in 2011 but it 1s stil not clear whether or by how much the rate will
change A reduction in the Ogden discount rate will increase lump sum payments to UK bodily injury
claimants

Assumptions

Claims provisions are estmated based on known facts at the date of estmation Case estmates are
generally set by skilled claims technicians, applying their expenence and knowledge to the circumstances of
individual claims, taking into account all avalable informaton and corespondence regarding the
circumstances of the claim, such as medical reports, investigations and inspections  Claims technicians set
case estimates according to documented claims department policies and specialise in setting estimates for
certain ines of business or types of clam Claims above certain imits are referred to senior claims handlers
for authorisation No adjustments are made to the claims technicians’ case estmates included in booked
claims provisions, except for rare occasions when the estimated ultmate cost of a large or unusual claim
may be adjusted, subject to internal reserve committee approval, to allow for uncertainty regarding, for
example, the outcome of a court case The uttimate cost of outstanding clams 1s then estimated by using a
range of standard actuanal clams projection techriques, such as the Chain Ladder and Bornhuetter-
Ferguson methods

The main assumption underlying these techniques s that a company's past clams development expenence
can be used to project future clams development and hence ultmate claims costs  As such, these methods
extrapolate the development of paid and incurred losses, average costs per clam and clam numbers based
on the observed development of earlier years and expected loss ratios Histonical claims development i1s
mainly analysed by accident period, although underwnting or notification penod 1s also used where this 1s
considered appropriate

Claims development 1s separately analysed for each line of business Certain lines of business are also
further analysed by claim type or type of coverage In addibion, large claims are usually separately assessed,
either by being reserved at the face value of loss adjuster estmates, or separately projected in order to
refiect their future development

The assumptions used in most non-ife actuanal projecton techmiques, including future rates of clams
inflation or loss ratio assumptions, are mphcit in the historical clams development data on which the
projections are based Additional qualitative judgement 1s used to assess the extent to which past trends
may not apply in the future, for example, to reflect one-off occurrences, changes in external ar market
factors such as public athtudes to ctaming, economic conditions, levels of claims inflation, judicial decisions
and legislation, as well as nternal factors such as portfolio mix, policy condiions and claims handling
procedures in order to arnve at the estimated ultimate cost of claims that represents the most hkely
outcome, from the range of possible outcomes, taking account of all the uncertainties involved The range
of possible outcomes does not, however, result in the quantfication of a reserve range

32




Aviva International Insurance Limited
Annual Report and Frnancial Statements 2010

Notes to the financial statements continued

20 Insurance liabilities continued

(b) General insurance hatilities continued

Movements
The following changes have occurred in the claims provisions dunng the year

2010 2009

£m £m

Carrying amount at 1 January 1,942 2,282
Impact of changes in assumptbons 33 (41)
Claim losses and expenses incurred In the current year 1,061 1,181
Decrease in estmated claim losses and expenses incurred in prior year {25) {82)
Incurred claims lossaes and expenses 1,069 1,038
Less
Payments made on claims incurred in the current year (628) (720)
Payments made on claims incurred in pnor years (590) (682)
Claims payments made in the year {1,218) {1,402)
Unwinding of discounting 19 17
Changes in claims reserve recognised as an iIncome (130) {347)
Foreign exchange movement 17 7
Carrying amount at 31 December 1,829 1,942

The net deterioration in claims from prior aceident years 1s mainly due to unfavourable development on
Employers’ Liability and inwards quota-share reinsurance

(¢} L.oss development tables

(1) The tables that follow present the development of clam payments and the estimated ultimate cost of
claims for the accident years 2001 to 2010 The upper half of the tables shows the cumulative amounts paid
during successive years related to each accident year For example, wath respect to the accident year 2001,
by the end of 2010 £862 milion had actually been paid in settlement of claims In addition, as reflected in the
lower section of the table, the onginal estimated ultimate cost of claims of £878 million was re-estmated to
be £905 milhon at 31 December 2010 This increase from the onginal estimate 1s due to the combination of a
number cof factors The onginal estimates will also be increased or decreased, as more information becomes
known about the individual clams and overall claim frequency and severity

The Company aims to maintain strong reserves in respect of its general insurance business in order to
protect against adverse future clams experience and development As claims develop and the ulimate cost
of clams become more certain, the absence of adverse claims experience will then result in a release of
reserves from earlier accident years, as shown in the loss development tables below However, in order to
maintain overall reserve adequacy, the Company establishes strong reserves in respect of the current
acaident year (2010) where the development of claims 1s less mature and there 1s much greater uncertainty
attaching to the ultimate cost of claims
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20 Insurance Lhabihties continued

{c) Loss development tables continued
(n} Before the effect of reinsurance, the loss development table rs

All 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Total
prior
yaars
Accident year £m £m £m Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Gross cumulative claim
payments
At end of accident year (393) (622} (600) (623) (643) (801) (970) (980) (720) (628)
One year later (626) (973) {865) (1.021) (981)  (1.188) {1,428) (1,344) (973)
Two years later (708) (1,064) (964) (1102) (1,071} {(1,302) {1,528) (1,433)
Three years later (780y (1,131) (1.048) (1.157)  (1,149) (1,359} {1,582)
Four years (ater (825) (1.182) (1,107) (1.187) (1,195 {(1.413)
Five years later 839y (1,210) (1,145) (1.,221)  (1,223)
Six years later {846) {1,228) {1,161) (1,241}
Seven years later (853) {1,231) {1,176)
Eight years later 857y (1,237)
Nine years later (862)
Estimate of gross
ultimate claims
At end of accident year 878 1,317 1301 1,362 1,292 1,448 1,585 1,622 1,161 1,061
One year later 879 1 304 1,300 1,398 1,304 1,485 1,674 1.608 1,152
Two years later 897 1,306 1,288 1,347 1.277 1,493 1,673 1,628
Three years later 907 1,298 1,246 1,285 1,259 1,473 1,688
Four years later 891 1,287 1,219 1,249 1.251 1,481
Five years later 883 1,260 1,195 1,253 1,262
Six years later 882 1,268 1,187 1254
Sevenyears later 909 1,261 4,187
Eight years 1ater 807 1,260
Nine years later 905
Estimate of gross ultimate 805 1,260 1,187 1,254 1,252 1,481 1,688 1,628 11562 1,061
claims
Cumulative payments (862) (1,237 (1,176) (1,241} {1,223) (1,413) {1,582) {1.433) {973) {628)
1,035 43 23 1" 13 29 68 106 195 179 433 2,138
Effect of discounting (319) - - - - - - - - - - (319)
Present value 716 43 23 11 13 29 68 106 195 178 433 1,816
Effect of portfolio transfer - - - 2 3 3 5 - - - - 13
Present value
recognisad in the
statement of financial
position 716 43 23 13 18 32 73 106 195 179 433 1,829
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20 Insurance hiabhities contnuad

{c) L.oss development tables continued

{1} After the effect of reinsurance, the loss development table is

Al 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Total
prior
years
Accident year £m Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Net cumulative clamm
payments
At end of accident year (385) (586) (572 (621) (637} (798) (968) (977) (717) {626)
One year later (613) (938) (845) (961) (985) (1,184) (1,425) (1,341) (870)
Twao years later (704) (1,028) (841) (1,058 (1,086) (1,298) (1.524) (1,431)
Three years later 77 (1.092)  (1,028) (1,112)  (1143) (1,358 {1,577}
Four years later (812) (1,145 (1,086) (1,142} (1,189 (1,409)
Five years |ater (828) (1,173) (1,122 (1.176) (1,218)
Six years later (829) (1,181) (1.138) (1.196)
Seven years later (829) (1,183) (1,145}
Eight years later (830y  (1.,187Y
Nine years later {830)
Estimate of net ultimate
claims
At end of accident year 806 1,298 1,297 1,338 1,280 1,448 1,575 1,620 1,158 1059
One year later 802 1,292 1,285 1,353 1,299 1,481 1,662 1,605 1,149
Two years later 805 1,269 1,248 1,302 1,272 1,489 1,665 1,625
Three years later 233 1,261 1,224 1,240 1,253 4,469 1,681
Four years later 829 1,250 1,198 1,204 1,246 1,477
Five years tater 831 1,224 1,165 1,208 1,246
Six years later a3 1,204 1,156 1,209
Seven years later 830 1,197 1,156
Eight years later 831 1,197
Nine years later 831
Estimate of ulimate claims B31 1,187 1,156 1,208 1,246 1.477 1,681 1,625 1,149 1,059
Cumulative payments (830) (1.,187) (1,145 (1,196) (1,.218) (1,409) {(1,577) {1.431) (97Q) {826)
558 1 10 11 13 28 68 104 194 179 433 1,599
Etfect of discounting (184 - - - - - - - - - - (184}
Presant value
recognised in the
statement of financial
position 374 1 10 1 13 28 68 104 194 179 433 1,415

In the loss development tables shown above, the cumulative claim payments and estimates of cumulative
clams for each accident year are transiated into sterling at the exchange rates that applied at the end of that
acadent year Disposals are dealt with by treating all outstanding and {BNR claims of the disposed entity as
“paid” at the date of disposal

The loss development tables include information on asbestos and environmental pollution cltaims provisions
from business written before 2001  The undiscounted claim provisions, net of reinsurance, in respect of this
business were £427 million at 31 December 2010 (2009 £434 milhon)

{d) Provision for unearned premiums

Movements
The following changes have occurred in the provision for unearned premiums (UPR) durning the year

2010 2009

£m £m

Carrying amount at 1 January 694 1,070
Premiums wnitten during the year 1,453 1,216
Less Premiums earned dunng the year (1,427) (1,582)
Changes in UPR recognised as expense/(income) {note 1) 26 (376)
Carrying amount at 31 December 720 834
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21 Reinsurance assets
(a) Carrying amounts

The following 18 a summary of the remnsurance assets and as at 31 December

2010 2009

£m £m

QOutstanding claim provisions 239 285
Prowvisions for claims incurred but not reported 1756 204
Total 414 489

Of the above remsurance assets, £374 milion (2009 £392 milhan) 15 expected 10 be recoverad more than
one year after the statement of financial position date

(b) Assumptions :

The assumptions, including discount rates, used for reinsurance contracts follow those used for insurance
contracts Reinsurance assets are valued net of any provisions for their recoverabiliity

(c) Movements
The following movements have occurred in the reinsurance asset during the year

{1} Outstanding claims provisions and IBNR

2009
2010

£m £m

Carrying amount at 1 January 489 524

Impact of changes in assumptions 6 (13)

Remsurers' share of claim losses and expenses incurred in current year 2 3

Rensurers’ share of claim losses and expenses incurred in prior years {36) -

Reinsurers’ share of incurred claim losses and expenses (34) 3
Less

Reinsurance recoveries received on claims incurred In current year {2) {3)

Retnsurance recoveries received on claims incurred in prior years (64) (28)

Reinsurance recoveries received in the year (66) {(31)

Unwinding of discount 9 8

Change 1n reinsurance asset recognised as expense (85) {33)

Foreign exchange movement 10 (2)

Carrying amount at 31 December 414 489

{w} Reinsurers’ share of the provision for unearned premiums (UPR)

2010 2009

£m £m

Carrying amount at 1 January - -

Premiums ceded to reinsurers in the year 16 26
Less

Remnsurers' share of premiums earned dunng the year (note 1) {16) (26)

Carrying amount at 31 December
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22 Tax assets and habilities

{a} Current tax

2010 2009
£m £m
{1} Tax asset

Expected to be recoverable in more than one year 24 -
Tax asset recognised m statement of financial position 24 -

{(n) Tax hability
Expected to be payable in more than one year {3} (19}
Tax liability recognised in statement of financial position (3} (19)

The tax asset for prior years tax settled by Group relief of £130 mullion (2009 £202 mullion) 1s included within
recewvables (note 14) and within the related party transactions (note 32} The whole amount 1s recoverable In
less than one year

(b) Deferred tax

2010 2009
£m Em
(1} The balance at the year end comprises
Deferred tax habilties - (10)
Net deferred tax hability - (10)
() The net deferred tax hability anses on the following items
Temporary differences arising on insurance items {33) (35)
Unused losses and tax credits 25 21
Accelerated capital allowances 2 2
Prowvisions and other timing differences 6 2
Net deferred tax habihty - (10)
{in) The movement in the net deferred tax lability was as follows
Net hability at 1 January {(10) (32}
Amounts credited to profit (note 5) 10 22
Net iability at 31 December - (10}

{b) Deferred tax
The Company has unrecognised temporary differences of £103 million (2009 £6 millron) to carry forward
indefinitely against future taxable income In addition, the Company has an unrecognised capital loss of £ni
{2009 £1 mulion)

23 Provisions

{a) Carrying amounts

2010 2009

£m £m

Restructuring provision N 1
Other provisions 19 20
Al 31 December 19 21

Of the total, £7 milhion (2009 £7 rmilfron) 1s expected to be settled more than one year after the statement of
financial position date
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23 Provisions continued

_{b) Movements during the year on restructuring and other provisions

Restructuring Other

provision provistons Total

£m £m £m

At1 January 2009 1 26 27
Additional provisions 1 - 1
Utiised dunng the year {1) (6) ()
At 31 December 2009 1 20 21
Additional provistons 17 - 17
Utilsed during the year (18) {1} {19)
At 31 December 2010 - 19 19

Other prowisions compnse provisions for obhgations such as costs of compensation, ligation and

reorganisation

24 Payables and other financial habilities

2010 2008
£m £m
Payables arising out of direct insurance and assumed reinsurance 186 154
Amounts due to holding companies (note 32(b)(n)) 21 23
Amounts due to subsidiaries (note 32(b)(m)} 428 894
Amounts due to other Aviva Group companies (note 32(b)(in)) 10 3
Loans due to subsidiaries (note 32(b)(1)) 437 233
Loans due to other Aviva Group companies (note 32 {b)(1)) 116 115
Dervative habihties {note 31} 103 30
Other financial iabihties 7 4
Total 1,307 1,456
Expected to be settled within one year 755 1,108
Expected to be settled in more than one year 552 348
1,307 1,456

25 Other habilities
2010 2009
£m £m
Accruals 1 P
Other habilties 15 18
16 20
Expected to be settled within one year -] 12
Expected 10 be settled in more than one year B B
16 20

26 Contingent habihties and other nsk factors

(a) Uncertainty over claims provisions

Note 20 gwes details of the estmation techniques used in determining the general business outstanding
claims prowvisions, which are designed to allow for prudence These are estimated to give a result within the
normal range of outcomes To the extent that the ulmate cost falls outside this range, for example where
expenence 1s worse than that assumed, or future general business ciams inflation differs from that

expected, there 1s uncertainty in respect of this liability
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26 Contingent liabihties and other risk factors continued .

{b) Asbestos, pollution and social environmental hazards

In the course of conducting insurance business, the Company receives general insurance hability claims,
and becomes involved in actual or threatened littgation ansing there from, including clams in respect of
pollution and other environmental hazards Amongst these are claims n respect of asbestos production and
handling in the United Kingdom Given the significant delays that are expenenced in the notification of these
claims, the potential number of incidents which they cover and the uncertainties associated with establishing
hability and the availlability of reinsurance, the ultmate cost cannot be determined with certainty Howsver,
the Company's net exposure to such habilities 1s not significant and, on the basis of current infarmation and
having regard to the level of provisions made for general insurance claims, the directors consider that any
costs ansing are not hikely to have a matenal impact on the financial position of the Company

(¢} Regulatory

The Financial Services Authonty {(FSA) regulates the Company's UK business and in additton monitors the
financial resources and orgamsation of the Company as a whole The FSA has broad powers including the
authonty to grant, vary the terms of, or cancel a regulated firm’s authonsation, to investigate marketing and
sales practices and to require the maintenance of adequate financial resources The Company's regulators
outside the UK typically have similar powers but in some cases they operate a system of "prior product
approval” and hence place less emphasis than the FSA on regulating sales and marketing practices

The directors believe that the Company dedicates appropriate resources to its compliance programme,
endeavours to respond to regulatory enquires in a constructive way, and takes corrective action when
warranted However, all regulated financial services companies face the risk that the regulator could find
that they have falled to comply with applicable regulations or have not undertaken corrective action as
required

The impact of any such finding could have a negative impact on the Company's reported results or on its
relations with current or potential customers  Regulatory action against the Company could resultin adverse
publicity for, or negative perceptions regarding, the Company, or could have a material adverse effect on the
business of the Company, its results of operations andfor financial conditon and divert management's
attention from the day-to-day management of the business

With the approval of the Financial Services Authonity, the Company and certain of its United Kingdom
Insurance subsidianes transacting general insurance business have mutually guaranteed to discharge all
liabilities attaching to their respective insurance policies The guarantee enables a participating company, if
it 1s unable to pay policyholder claims, to seek financial support from one of the guarantors The guarantors
arg not obliged to make the payment if they cannct do so without seeking recourse to their funds where
applicable If any payments are made under the guarantee, the guarantors are entitled to seek repayment
from the company benefiting from the guarantee The guarantee cannot be relied upon by any other person,
including without Imitation the holder of any contracts of insurance i1ssued by a party to the guarantee There
15 no maximum amount the Company would have {o pay under the guarantee but, in the opinion of the
directors, the fair value of the guarantee above 15 not matenal and no matenal loss 1s expected to anse
therefrom

(d) European legislative change

In 2010, a test case was taken to the European Court of Justice to rule in the current law and practice
whereby insurers may take into account a person's gender in the assessment of risk and consequently the
pricing of insurance products, the ruling for which was 1ssued on 1 March 2011 We are currently unable to
quantfy the impact on our existing insurance provisions

(e) Other

The Company has guaranteed the overdrafts and borrowings of certain other Group compames The
maximum exposure of the Company 1s £1,704 milllon (2008 £1,748 rmuflron} In the opimion of the directors,
no matenal loss will anise in respect of these guarantees and indemnities

In addition, in ne with standard business practice, the Company has given guarantees, indemnities and
warranties in connection with disposals in recent years of subsidianes and associates to parties outside the
Aviva Group [n the opirwon of the directors, no matenal loss will anse In respect of these guarantees,
indemnities and warranties
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27 Commitments
Operating lease commitments

(1} Future contractual aggregate minimum lease rentals recevable under non-cancellable operating leases
are as follows

2010 20098

£m £m

Within one year . 4
Later than one year and not fater than five years 1 10
Later than five years 1 5
2 19

(n) Future contractual aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as
follows

2010 2009
£m £m
Within one year 24 26
Later than one year and not later than five years 82 87
Later than five years 146 160
252 273

The total of future minimum sublease payments expected
to be receved under nhon-cancellable subleases 33 48

The Company has no capital commitments which have not been recognised in the financial statements
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28 Statement of cash flows

(a) The reconciliation of profit before tax to the net cash inflow from operating activities Is

2010 2009
£m Em
Profit before tax 204 1,556
Adjustments for
(Profit)loss on sale or share buy-back of
Investment Property (4) -
Subsidianies (50) {454}
Investments 242 14
188 {440}
Fair value losses/(gains) on
Investment property 1 8
Investments (192) {(101)
{191) (93}
Impairment of investments in subsidianes 118 1
Amortisation of
Premium or discount on debt securities 17 2
Financial instruments 1 -
18
Unwinding of discount on claims provisions, net of reinsurance 10 9
Foreign currency exchange losses/ (gains) -] (8)
Changes in working capital
Decrease In reinsurance assets 75 35
Decrease in deferred acquisition costs ] 114
Decrease in insurance liabilities (87) {716}
{Decrease) /Increase in other assets and habilities (1,043) 200

(1,049) (367)
Net sales of operating assets

Proceeds on sale of investment property 47 -
Net sales/(purchases) of financial investments 294 (1019

341 (1.019)
Cash used in operations (355) {(359)

Purchases and sales of investment property, loans and financial investments are included in operating cash
flows as the purchases are funded from cash flows associated with the ongination of insurance contracts,
net of payments of related claims

(b) Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash flows statement at 31 December compnised

2010 2009

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 168 229
Cash equivalents 164 457
332 686

29 Capital structure

The Company mamtains an efficient capital structure from equity sharehoiders’ funds, consistent with the
Company's overall nsk profile and the regulatory and market requirements of the business This note
descnbes the way the Company manages capital and shows how this is structured

(a) General

IFRS underpins the Company's capital structure and accordingly, the capital structure 1s analysed on this
basis The Company also uses an individual capital assessment {'ICA’Y measure to assess its own internal
economic capital requirements
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29 Capital structure continued

(b} Capital management
In managing its capital, the Company seeks to

(1) match the profite of its assets and liabilities, taking account of the risks inherent in the business,

(1) maintain financial strength to support new business growth and satisfy the requirements of its
policyholders and regulators,

(m) retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong iquidity, and

(v} aliocate capital efficiently to support growth and repatnate excess capital where appropnate

The Company considers not only the traditional sources of capital funding but the alternative sources of
capital including reinsurance, as appropnate, when assessing s deployment and usage of capital

(c) Different measures of capital

The Company measures its capital on a number of different bases These include measures which comply
with the regulatory regime within which the Company operates and those which the directors consider
appropnate for the management of the business The measures which the Company uses are

(1) Accounting basis
The Company I1s required to report its results on an IFRS basis

{n) Regulatory basis
Relevant capital and solvency regulations are used to measure and report the Company's financtal
strength These measures are based on the FSA's regulatory requirements under Solvency | and the
ICA regime The regulatory capital tests verify that the Company retaing an excess of solvency capital
above the required minimum level calculated using a series of prudent assumptions about the type of
business that 1s underwntten

The Company fully complied with these regulatory requirements durning the year

{m} Economic basis
The Company also measures its capital using a nisk based capital model to assess economic capital
requirements and to aid in nsk and capital management This model 1s used to support reporting
under the ICA regme The nsk management note {Note 30), gives further detals

(d) Company capital structure

2010 2009

£m £m

Total capitai employed 17,384 17,743
Financed by

Equity shareholders' funds 17,384 17,743

30 Risk management

The ulhmate parent company, Aviva ple, and its subsidianes, joint ventures and associates (collectively
known as “the Aviva Group”), operate a nsk management framework with the pnmary objective of protecting
the Aviva Group, including the Company, from events that hinder the sustanable achievement of
performance objectives, including faiing to exploit opportunities

Risk 1s categonised as follows

. Financtal nsks, which cover market, credit, general insurance and quidity risks,

. Strategic nsks, which include 1ssues such as customer, products and markets as well as any risks
to the Company’s business model ansing from changes in the market, and nisks ansing from
mergers and acquisittions, and

. Operational nsks, which anse from inadeguately controlled processes or systems, human error or
non-comphance as well as from external events Operational nsks include reputation and
regulatory nsks, such as comphance
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30 Risk management continued

The Aviva Group monitors nsk on an angoing basis and prepares quarterly reports 1dentifying all matenal
risks, along with information on likelihood, sevenity and mitigating actions taken or planned This enables the
Aviva Group to assess its overall nsk exposure against local and global nsk appetites, identify any
concentrations of nsk that may exist, and to identify where nsks hie outside nsk appetite and mitigating action
1s required or sk appetite requires revision in hght of changing market conditions Impact assessments are
considered against financial, operational and reputational criteria and take into account underlying factors
such as economic conditiens, for example, UK economic growth and inflation

The Aviva Group nsk management framework 15 designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the nsk of
failure to achieve business abjectives and can provide only reasonable assurance against matenal financial
misstatement or loss New nsks or nisks currently considered immatenal may also impair the future
achievement of business objectives

The Aviva Group recogrises the critical importance of having an efficient and effective nsk management
framework In place To this end, the Aviva Group has an established governance framework, which has the
following key elements

+ Defined terms of reference for the legal enbty Boards and the associated executive management and
other committees within the Aviva Group,

e A clear orgamisational structure with documented delegated authonities and responsibilites from the
legal entity Boards to executive management committees and senior management,

+ Adoption of the Aviva Group policy framework that defines nisk appette measures and sets out nisk
management and control standards for the Group's woridwide operations Each policy has a member of
senior management who 1s charged with overseeing compliance with the policy throughout the Awviva
Group The policies also set out the roles and responsibilities of businesses, regions, policy owners
and nsk oversight committees

The Aviva Group operates a three lines of defence nsk management model Prmary responsibility for nisk
identification and management lies with business management (the first ine of defence) Support for and
challenge on the completeness and accuracy of nsk assessment, nisk reporting and adequacy of mitigation
plans are performed by specialist nsk functions {the second line of defence) Independent and cbjective
assurance on the robustness of the nsk management framework and the appropnateness and effectiveness
of internal control 1s provided by group audit (the third line of defence)

The adoption of Aviva Group policies enables a consistent approach to management of nsk at a business
urit level The Awviva Group operates a number of oversight committees that monitor aggregate nsk data
and take overall nsk management decisions

The Aviva Group has developed a framework, using Individual Capital Assessment (“ICA") principles, for
quantfying the mpact of nsks on economic capital The ICA combines the results of financal and
operational nsk stress tests The results of modelling are incomorated Into key strategic planning and
decision making processes The FSA also requires the Aviva Group and the Company to assess iis
economic capital requirements to ensure that it adequately reflects the nisks facing the business

{a) Market risk
Market sk 1s the nsk of adverse financial impact due to changes in fair values or future cash flows of
financial instruments from fluctuations in interest rates, equity prices, property prices and foreign currency
exchange rates Market nsk anses due to fluctuations in both the value of liabilities and the value of
investments held

Market nsk 1s managed locally within the Aviva Group market risk framework, within local regulatory
constraints and n line with established Aviva Group policy, including minmmum principles for matching
labilthies with appropriate assets

The Aviva Group’s insurance operations are subject to numerous local regulatory reguirements that
prescribe the type, qualty, and concentration of investments, and the level of assets to be mantained In
local currency in order to meet local insurance labilities These requirements help to maintain market nsk at
an acceptable leve!l in each of the junsdictions in which the Aviva Group operates
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30 Risk management continued

(a) Market risk continued

For each of the major components of market nsk, descnbed 1n more detail below, additional policies and
procedures are in place to set out how each nsk should be managed and monitored, and the approach to
settihg an appropnate risk appetite

Equity price nsk The Company is subject to equity price risk due to dally changes in the market
values of its equity secunties portfollo  Equity price risk 15 actively managed in
order to mihigate potential unfavourable market movements and includes using a
variety of denvative instruments, including futures and options

Sensitvity to changes in equity prices 1S given in section {g) below

fnterest rate nsk Interest rate rnsk arises pnmarnly from the Company’s investments, fixed income
securities and other liabilities, which are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates
The Company maintains a cfose matching of assets and habihities by duration,
using denvative instruments if necessary, to minimise this nsk

Sensitivity to changes in interest rates I1s given in section {g) below

Currency rnisk The Company has minma! exposure to currency risk, other than through the far
value of overseas subsidiaries
Derivatives rnisk Denvatives are used withint policy guidelines agreed by the Aviva plc Board of

Directors and in line with Group policy Dernvatives are only used for efficient
investment management, asset and lability management or nsk hedging
purposes

The farr values of Investments in subsidianes are estimated using applicable valuation models, underpinned
by the Aviva Group's market capitalisaton This uses a three month rolling average of the Aviva Group's
share price and 1s, therefore, sensitive to movements in that price

The management of market nsk 1s overseen by the Group's Asset and Liability Committee

{b) Credit nsk
Cradit nisk 1s the nsk of loss in the value of financial assets due to counterparties failing to meet all or part of
their obligations

The Company’s management of credit nsk 1s carried out In accordance with the Aviva Group credit nsk
processes, which include setting exposure imits and monitenng exposures in accordance with ratings set by
credit ratings agencies such as Standard & Poor's Exposure levels are reported to, and reviewed by, the
Group's Asset and Liability Committee

Financial assets are graded according to current credit ratings 1ssued AAA 1s the highest possible rating
investment grade financial assets are classified within the range of AAA to BBB ratings Financial assets
which fall outside this range are classified as speculative grade Credit imits for each counterparty are set
based on default probabiliies that are in turn based on the rating of the counterparty and the type of
exposure

The Company has significant financial exposure to amounts due from its parent, Aviva plc, and fellow Aviva
group companies The credit nsk ansing from Aviva group counterparties faling to meet all or part of their
obhgations 15 considered remote Due to the nature of the intra-group loans, and the fact that these loans
are settied, and not traded, the Company 1s not exposed to the risk of changes to the market value caused
by changing perceptions of the credit worthiness of such counterparties

The foliowing table provides information regarding the aggregated credit risk exposure of the Company
"Non-rated" assets captures assets not rated by external ratings agencies
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30 Risk management continued

{b) Credit risk continued

Credit rating
31 December 2010 AAA AA A BBB Speculative Non- Total
grade rated
% %o Y% % % % £m
Debt secunties 21 8% 147% 39 6% 23 9% - - 906
Reinsurance assets - 76 1% 72% - - 16 7% 414
Loans - - 98 8% 1.2% - - 127
Other iInvestments - - - - - 100.0% 74
Credit rating
31 December 2009 AAA AA A BBB Speculative Non- Total
grade rated
% Yo % % % % £m
Debt secunties 93 0% 37% 19% 14% - - 1,169
Reinsurance assets 58 1% 82% 21 8% - - 11 9% 489
Loans - - 1000% - - - 125
Other investments - - - - - 100 0% 33

The Company Is not generally exposed to significant concentrations of credit nsk due to compliance with the
FSA’'s regulations limiting mvestments in individual assets and classes

The Company manages exposure 1o reinsurance counterpariies in accordance with Group policy Exposure
lmits are set by the Group Credit Approvals Committee which maintains a st of reinsurers that have
acceptable credit standing Reinsurer exposure and the impact of any reinsurer default are monitored
regularly

The Company's largest reinsurance counterparty is Berkshire Hathaway Inc (including subsidiaries) At 31
December 2010, the reinsurance asset recoverable from Berkshire Hathaway Inc was £263 million (2009
£327 milhon) This exposure 18 monitored on a regular basis

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit nsk 1s equal to the carrying value of assets in the statement of
financial position plus financial guarantees given to other group companies, outined n note 26(d)

The credit quality of recevables and other financial assets 1s monitored by the Company, and provisions for
impairment are made for irecoverable amounts The following table provides information regarding the
carrying value of financial assets that have been impaired and the ageing of financial assets that are past
due but not impaired

31 December 2010 Financial assets that are past due but not Carrying
Neither impaired value of
past due 0-3 3-6 6months Greater  impaired
nor  months months —1year than1year financial Total
impaired assets
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Debt secunties 906 - - - - - 906
Reinsurance assets 414 - - - - - 414
Loans 127 - - - - - 127
Recelvables 2,660 - - - - - 2,660
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30 Risk management continued

{b) Credit nsk continued

31 December 2009 Financial assets that are past due but not Carrying
Neither impaired value of
past due 0-3 3-8 6 months Greater  impared
nor  months  months  -1year than 1year financial Total
impaired assets
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Debt secunties 1,169 - - - - - 1,169
Resnsurance assets 489 - - - - - 489
Loans 125 - - - - - 125
Receivables and other
financial assets 2,183 - - - - - 2,183

Receivables include loans and amounts due from other Aviva group companies of £2,617 milion (2009
£1,654 mithon)

There were no materal financial assets that would have been past due or impaired had the terms not been
renegohated

The management of credit risk 1s overseen by the Group's Asset and Liability Committee

{c) Management of general insurance nsk and reinsurance strategy

The Aviva Group's underwnting strategy and nsk appehte 18 agreed by the Awviva Group Executive
Committee and communicated via specific policy statements and guidelines Group general insurance nsk 1s
monitored through the General Insurance Risk Committee which 1s part of the Group's nsk management
framework

Significant insurance risks will be reported through the nsk management framework Additionally, the ICA 1s
used to assess the risks that each general insurance business umt, and the Group as a whole, 1s exposed
to, quantifying therr impact and calculating appropriate capital requirements tncreasingly nsk-based capital
models are being used to support the quantification of risk under the ICA framework All general insurance
business units undertake a quarterly review of their insurance nsks, the output from which I1s a key input into
the ICA and nsk-based capital assessments

The Group General Insurance Committee monitors and develops the management of insurance nsk in the
general insurance business units, and assesses the aggregate nsk exposure It 1s responsible for the
development, implementation, and review of the Group policies for underwnting, claims, reinsurance and
reserving that operate within the nsk management framework

The Company's insurance business 1S managed within a group of companies, "UKGI", undertaking
Insurance business and other non-insurance business in the UK The Company considers insurance risk
within its general insurance activity to compnse the following

¢ Inaccurate pncing and selecton of nsks when underwntten,

Fluctuations n the tming, frequency and seventy of clams and clam settlements relative to
expectations,

Unexpected clams arising from a single source,

Inadequate reinsurance protection or other nsk transfer techmqgues, and

* inadequate reserves

The majonty of the general insurance business underwntten by the Company is of a short-tail nature such as
maotor, household and commercial property tnsurances

The Company also sets its own underwniting strategy, consistent with the Group's Underwnting strategy 1s
communicated to underwnters, with underwnting licences granted to individual underwriters according to
competence and experience The vast majonty of the Company's general insurance business 18 managed
and pnced in the same country as the domicile of the customer, predominantly in the UK
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30 Risk management continued

(c) General insurance nisk continued

The Company has developed mechanisms that ndentlfy quantify and manage accumulated exposures to
contain them within the hmits of the appette of the Company , The Company has in place various
methodologies to manage effectively exposures ansing from specific penls The Company analyses
accumnulations of insurance nisk under vanous headings, Including type of business, location, profile of
customers and type of claim and uses these analyses to inform underwnting and reserving

Reinsurance purchases are reviewed to venfy that the levels of protection being bought reflect any
developments in exposure and the nsk appetite of the Company The basis of these purchases Is
underpinned by extensive financial and capital modelling and actuanal analysis to optimise the cost and
capital efficiency benefits This involves utilising externally sourced probabiistic models to venfy the
accumulations and loss probabilities based on the Company’s specific portfolios of business In addition to
external models, scenanos are developed and tested using the Company's data to determine the potential
losses and appropnate levels of reinsurance protection Remnsurance covers single large exposures and
concentrations of exposures The Company has processes in place to manage catastrophe risk and
purchases catastrophe reinsurance {o protect against significant natural hazard events For a single realistic
catastrophic event, UKGI's maximum retention 1s approximately £210 million

Actuanal claims reserving 1s conducted by local actuanes in the vanous general insurance business units
according to the Group General Insurance Reserving policy The Group General Insurance Committee
monitors and maintains the General Insurance Reserving policy, and conducts quarterdy reviews of the
Group's general insurance claims provisions, and their adequacy The reviews include peer reviews of the
business unit's own conclusions as well as independent analysis to confirm the reasonableness of the local
reviews The adequacy of the Group's general insurance claims provisions 1s ultimately overseen by the
General Insurance Commitiee A number of business units also have pernodic exiernal reviews by local
consultant actuanies (often as part of the local regulatory requirement)

The adequacy of the Company's general insurance claims provisions 1S overseen by both the Group
General Insurance Risk Committee and the UKGI Reserve Commuttee Actuanal claims reserving 1s
conducted by the Company’s actuaries in compliance with the Group General Insurance Resenving policy
There are perrodic external reviews by consultant actearnies

The management of insurance nsk 1s overseen by specific UKGI senior management committees, namely
the Underwriting and Pricing Groups, the Reserve Committee and the Projections Committee

(d} Liquidhity nisk
Liquidity risk is the nisk than an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
habilities

The Company has set its investment strategy to ensure it has sufficient liquid funds to meet its expected

obhgations as they fall due The Aviva Group maintains significant committed borrowing facilities from a
range of highly-rated banks to mitigate this nsk further

47




Aviva International Insurance Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

Notes to the financial statements continued

30. Risk management continued

{d) Liguidity risk continued

The following table provides an analysis, by matunty date of the principal, of the carrying value of financial
assets and reinsurers’ share of the unearned prermium provisions, which are available to fund the repayment
of lablities as they crystallise

31 December 2010 Oon
demand
or within Over 5 No fixed
1 year 1-5 years years term Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Debt secunties a8 803 15 - 206
Equity secunties 1 - - - 1
Other investments 28 - 34 12 74
Loans - 2 125 - 127
Reinsurance assets 490 29 275 - 414
Recewvables and other financial
assels 2,660 - - - 2,660
Cash and cash equivalents 332 - - - 332
3,149 904 449 12 4,514
31 December 2009 On
demand
or within 1 Qver 5 No fixed
year 1-5 years years term Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Debt secunties 23 1,058 B8 - 1,169
Equity secunties - - - 243 243
Other investments - - 33 - 33
Loans - - 125 - 125
Reinsurance assets 97 1186 276 - 489
Recelvables and other financial
assets 2,041 142 - - 2,183
Cash and cash equivalents 686 - - - 686
2,847 1,316 522 243 4,928

The assets above are analysed in accordance with the earliest possible redemption date of the instrument at
the iation of the Company Where an instrument 18 puttable back to the 1ssuer on demand, such as a unit
trust or similar type of investment vehicle, it 1s included in the "On demand or within 1 year" column

For insurance contracts, the analysis of habilities below 1s based on the estmated tming of future cash
flows The following table shows the Company's financial habilittes and the general insurance habiltties
analysed by duration

31 December 2010

Within 1 1-5 5-15 Over 15
year years years years Total
£m £m £m £m £m
General insurance habilities 872 911 521 245 2,549
Payables and other financial labihities 755 552 - - 1,307
1,627 1,463 521 245 3,856

31 December 2009

Within 1 5-15 Qver 15
year 1-5 years years years Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Genecal insurance habilities 945 983 485 243 2,636
Payables and other financial hiabilities 1108 348 - - 1,458
2,053 1,311 485 243 4,092
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30 Risk management continued

(e) Strategic nsks

The Company 1s exposed to a number of strategic nsks The Company's strategy supports its vision,
purpose and objectives and I1s responsive to both the external and internal enwvironment, for example,
changes in the compebtive landscape ansing from econcmic conditions, customer demands and competitor
activity, regulatory changes, merger and acquisiion opportunties and emerging trends {such as climate
change and pandemic)

Strategic nisk 15 explicitly considered throughout the Company's strategic review and planning process
Developments are assessed dunng the quarterly performance management process where all aspects of
the risk profile are considerad

The Company actively engages with external bodies to share the benefits of its expertise in supporting
responses to emerging risks as well as challenging developments that could be damaging to the business
and the industry as a whole

(f) Operational nsk

Operational nsk 1s the nsk of loss, resulting from inadequate or falled internal processes, people and
systems or from external events Operational nsk includes reputation and regulatory rnisks, such as
compliance Only financial instrument nsk requires guantficaton under IFRS and conseguently no
quantification of this nsk s provided

Operational nsk 1s managed in accordance with contrel standards set out in Group policy framework
The management of operational nsk 1s overseen by the Group’'s Operational Risk Committee
(g9) Risk and capital management

The Aviva Group uses a number of risk management tools to understand the volatlity of earnings, the
volatilty of its capital requrements, and to manage its capital more efficiently Primarly, risk-based capital
models and scenario tests are used Sensitivities to economic and operating experience are regularly
produced on financial performance measurements to inform the Awviva Group’s decision making and
planning processes and quantifying the risks to which the Aviva Group 15 exposed

General insurance claims liabiities are estimated by using standard actuanal clams projection techniques
These methods extrapolate the clams development for each accident year based on the observed
development of earlier years In most cases, no explicit assumptions are made as projections are based on
assumptions implicit in the histonic clams development on which the projections are based As such, In the
analysis below, the sensitivity of general insurance clams liabilites 1s pnmarnly based on the financial impact
of changes to the reported loss ratio

Some results of sensitrity testing for the Company's business are set out below For each sensitivity test the
impact of a change in a single factor 1s shown, with other assumptions left unchanged

Sensitivity factor Description of sensitivity factor apphed
Interest rate and investment The impact of a change in market interest rates by £ 1% (e g fa current
return Interest rate 15 5%, the impact of an immediate change to 4% and 6%) The test

allows consistently for similar changes to investment returns and movements in
the market value of fixed interest securities

Equity / property market values The impact of a change in equity/property market values by +/- 10%

Expenses The impact of an increase in expenses by 10%
Gross loss ratios The impact of an increase In gross loss ratios for general insurance business
by 5%

The above sensitivity factors are applied using actuanal and statistical models The impacts are shown In
the tables below
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{g) Risk and capital management continued
Pre-tax mpacts on profit and shareholder's equity at 31 December 2010
Impact on profit before tax (Em)
Interest  Interest Equity / Equity / Gross
Rates Rates Property Property Expenses loss ratios
+1% 1% +10% -10% +10% +5%
Gross of reinsurance 40 {50) - - {30) (55)
Net of reinsurance 25 {30) - - {30) (55)
Impact before tax on shareholder's equity (Em)
Interest  Interest Equity !/ Equity / Gross
Rates Rates Property Property Expenses loss ratios
+1% 1% +10% -10% +10% +5%
Gross of reinsurance 40 (50) - - {5) {55}
Net of reinsurance 25 {30) - - {5} (55)
Pre-tax impacts on profit and shareholder's equity at 31 December 2009
Impact on profit before tax (Em)

Interest Interest Equity/  Equity / Gross
rates rates Property Property Expenses [oss ratios
+1% -1% +10% -10% +10% +5%

Gross of reinsurance 40 {55) 30 (30) {30) (55)
Net of remnsurance 25 {30y 30 (3) (30) {55)
Impact before tax on shargholder's equity (Em)

Interest interest Equity/ Equity/ Gross
Rates rates Property Property Expenses |0ss ratios
+1% 1% +10% -10% +10% +5%

Gross of reinsurance 40 {55) 30 (30) {5) {55)
Net of reinsurance 25 (30} 30 (30) {5) {55)

Due to the importance of reinsurance, the impact of sensitvites on profit and equity 1s shown gross and net
of reinsurance For general insurance, the impact of the expense sensitvity on profit afso includes the
increase n ongoing administration expenses, n addition to the increase in the claims handling expense

provision

The above tables demonstrate the effect of a change In a key assumption while other assumptions remain
unchanged In realty, there 1s a correlation between the assumptions and other factors It should also be
noted that these sensitivittes are non-linear, and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or

extrapolated from these results

The sensitivity analyses do not take into consideranon that the Company's assets and habihbes are actively
managed Additionally, the financial position of the Company may vary at the tme that any actual market
movement occurs For example, the Company's financial nsk management strategy ams to manage the
exposure to market fluctuations As nvestment markets move past vanous tnigger levels, management
actions could include selling investments, changing investment portfolio allocation and taking other

protective action

Other limitations 1n the above sensitivity analyses include the use of hypothetical market movements to
demonstrate potential nsk that only represent the Aviva Group's view of possible near-term market changes
that cannot be predicted with any certainty, and the assumption that all interest rates, equity pnces and

property values move in an wentical fashuon
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30 Risk management continued

{g) Risk and capital management continued

Assets are held at far value in accordance with the relevant accounting policy The majonty of such assets
are valued based on quoted market information or observable market data A small percentage of total
assets recorded at far value are based on estimates Where estimates are used, these are based on a
combination of independent third party evidence and internally developed models, calibrated to market
observable data where possible Whilst such valuations are sensitive to estimates, it 1s believed that
changing one or more of the assumptions to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not
significantly change the fair value

31 Denvative financial instruments

The Company uses a varety of denvative financial instruments, including both exchange traded and over-
the-counter instruments, in ine with our overall sk management strategy The objectives include managing
exposure to price, foreign currency andfor interest rate nsk on existing assets or habilities, as well as
planned or anticipated investment purchases

In the table below, figures are given for both the notional amounts and fair values of these instruments The
noticnal amounts reflect the aggregate of individual dervative positions on a gross basis and so give an
indication of the overall scale of the denvative transaction They do not reflect current market values of the
open positions The fair values represent the gross carrying values at the year end for each class of
denvative contract held (or 1ssued) by the Company

The farr values do not provide an indication of credit nsk, as many over-the-counter transactions are
contracted and documented under ISDA (International Swaps and Denvatives Assocation Inc) master
agreements or their equivalent Such agreements are designed to provide a legally enforceable set-off in the
event of default, which reduces credit exposure In addition, the Company has in place collateral
agreements between the Company and relevant counterparties

The Company had no cash flow or farr value hedges at 31 December 2010 (2009 ni

The Company's non-hedge derivative activity at 31 December 2010 was as follows

2010 2009
Contract/ Fair Fair Contract/ Farr Fair
notionat value value notional value value
amount asset labihity amount asset  habihty
£m £m £m £m £Em £m
Foreign exchange contracts
oTC
Forwards 998 11 (3) 41 - -
interest and currency swaps 304 31 (3) 665 33 (30)
Options 4,000 16 (26) - - -
[ Total 5,302 58 (32) 706 33 (30) ]
Interest rate contracts
oTC
Swaps 290 4 (71) - - -
Options - - - - -
[ Total 290 4 {71) - - -]
Totals at 31 December 5,592 62 {103) 706 33 {30)

Fair value assets are recognised as ‘Denvative financial instruments’ in note 12 Farr value lhabilities are
recognised as 'Other financial kabilities' in note 24
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31 Denvative financial instruments continued

The contractual undiscounted cash flows in relation to non-hedge denvative habiihes have the following
maturities

2010 2009

£m £m

Within one year 19 19
Between one and two years 19 19
Between two and three years 19 19
Between three and four years 19 19
Between four and five years 19 19
After five years 225 244
Total 320 339

32 Related party transactions

{a) The Company had the following related party transactions in 2010 and 2009

(1) Quota share arrangement

The Company has entered into quota share reinsurance arrangements with subsidiary undertakings, Aviva
Insurance UK Limited {AIUK) in each year since 2001, with London & Edinburgh Insurance Company
Limited (LEIC) in each year since 2002 and with Gresham tnsurance Company Limited (GIC) since 2006
The key terms of the agreement are

+ A 50% cession rate on premiums (2009 50%), claims and expense costs 1s applied in respeact of that
underwniting year in respect of AIUK and LEIC

+ A 100% cession rate on premiums, claims and expense costs 18 applied in respect of that underwriting year
in respect of GIC

» Interest payment of LIBOR + 50bps on any reserves

The premiums, claims and expenses which have been reinsured into the Company under the arrangement
are

Quota share 2010 2009

£m Em
Premiums earned 1,407 1,569
Claims incurred (1,102) (1,118)
Fee and commussion expenses and operating expenses {473) (586)
Loss on reinsurance (168) (135)

The matenal balances in the statement of financial position relating to this arrangement
are

2010 2009

£m £m

Gross insurance habilities (1,759)  (1,766)
Payable ansing out of rensurance accepted {170} (137)
Recewables ansing out of reinsurance accepted 152 158

(b) Other transactions
In addition to the quota share arrangement descnbed above, the Company receives dividend and interest

income from, and pays dividends and interest to parent companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidianes in
the normal course of business These activities are reflected in the tables below
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32 Related party transactions continued
{b) Other transactions continued

(1) Loans

Loans from other Aviva Group companies

In 2009, the Company entered into unsecured loan agreements with CGNU Life Assurance Limited (£55
milion), Aviva Life & Pensions UK Limited (£50 million) and Commercial Union Life Assurance Company
Limited (E10 million) These loans accrue interest at a fixed rate of 5 4% per annum, and settlement s
expected to be paid in cash

lLoan from subsidiary

In 2008, the Company entered into an unsecured facility agreement with one of its subsidianes, RAC ple
The Company agreed to a revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of up to £5600 million This facility
accrues interest at 5%, and settlement 1s expected to be received in cash As at the statement of financial
position date, the net amount drawn down under this facility was £357 million (2009 £233 muflion)

In 2009, the Company entered into an unsecured facility agreement with one of its subsidianes, Aviva UKGI
investments Ltd This facility accrues interest at 100 base points above 12 month LIBOR As at the
statement of financial position date, the net amount drawn down under this faciity was £80 milion {2008
£mi)

The matunty analysis of the related party loans i1s as follows

Maturity analysis of contractual undiscounted cashflows

Over Na Effective
Within 2-3 3-4 4-5 5 fixed interest
Benominated 1 year 1-2 years years years years years term rate
currency £m £m £m £m £m £m £m Total %
Payables 2010 £ 25 462 6 120 - - - 613 4 65%
2009 £ - - 233 - 115 - - 348 510%
{n) Services provided to related parties
2010 2009
Income Income
earned Recewvable at earmned Receivable at
In year year end n year year end
£m £m £m £m
Holding company - 2,328 - 1,526
Subsidianes 468 275 1,055 72
Other Aviva Group companies - 16 - 56
468 2,617 1,055 1,654

The related parties’ receivables are not secured and no guarantees were received in respect thereof The
receivables will be settled in accordance with normal credit terms Detalls of guarantees, indemnities and
warranties given by the Company on behalf of related parties are given in note 26
income earned of £468 million {2008 £1,055 million) relates to dividends recewved

() Services provided and expenses recharged by related parties

2010 2009

Services Services

provided/expense provided/expense
recharged Payable at recharged Payable at
n year year end in year year end
£m £m £m £m
Holding company - 21 - 23
Subsidianes - 428 3 894
Other Aviva Group companies 1 10 - 3
1 459 3 920
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{11) Services provided and expenses recharged by related parties continued

Expenses relating to staff and pension costs, facilites charges and other expenses for the UKGI region are
inttially charged by the Aviva Group's service companies and pareni company to Aviva Insurance UK
Limited ("AIUK"), a subsidiary of the Company AIUK then recharges these as a management charge across
all the UKGI companies, as a result of which the Company's share was £nil in 2010 (2009 £3 milhon)
Services provided include £1 mitlion (2009 £1 mulfion) investment management fees payable to fellow
subsidianes of the Aviva Group

The related parties’ payables are not secured and no guarantees were received in respect thereof The
payables will be settled in accordance with normal credit terms

(c) Key management compensation

Key management are remunerated by Aviva Employment Services Limited, a feilow subsidiary of the
ulimate parent company The maonty of such costs are borne by Awviva plc and Aviva Insurance UK
Limited and are not recharged to the Company Please refer to the financial statements of Aviva plc and
Aviva Insurance UK Limited for the IAS 24 disclosures in relation to management compensation

{d} Parent entity
The immediate holding company 1s Aviva Group Holdings Lumited, registered in the UK

{e) Ultimate controlling entity

The ultimate controlling entity 1s Aviva plc Its Group Financial Statements are avallable on application to the
Group Company Secretary, Aviva ple, St Helen's, 1 Undershafl, London EC3P 3DQ and on the Aviva plc
website at www aviva com
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